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  Agenda
   

 
 

Finance Committee 
 

Anderson Room, City Hall 
6911 No. 3 Road 

Monday, May 5, 2025 
Immediately following the General Purposes Committee meeting 

 
 
Pg. # ITEM  
 
  

MINUTES 
 
FIN-4  Motion to adopt the minutes of the meeting of the Special Finance 

Committee held on April 22, 2025. 

  

 
  

DELEGATION 
 
FIN-6 1. Aanu Adeleye, Engagement Partner, and Chito Lo, Engagement Senior 

Manager, KPMG, to present the Audit Findings Report on the City’s 2024 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
  FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION 
 
 2. 2024 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

(File Ref. No. 03-0905-01) (REDMS No. 8021882) 

FIN-31  See Page FIN-31 for full report  
  Designated Speaker:  Cindy Gilfillan 

  STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
  That the 2024 City of Richmond Consolidated Financial Statements as 

presented in Attachment 2 be approved. 
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Pg. # ITEM  
 
 

FIN – 2 

  RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 
 3. 2024 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE RICHMOND PUBLIC 

LIBRARY 
(File Ref. No. 03-0905-01) (REDMS No. 8027857) 

FIN-133  See Page FIN-133 for full report  
  Designated Speaker:  Susan Walters 

  STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
  That the 2024 Richmond Public Library audited financial statements for the 

year ended December 31, 2024, as presented in the attached report from the 
Chief Librarian, be received for information. 

  

 
  LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY 
 
 4. 2024 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE LULU ISLAND ENERGY 

COMPANY 
(File Ref. No. 03-0950-01) (REDMS No. 8022654) 

FIN-158  See Page FIN-158 for full report  
  Designated Speakers:  Alen Postolka & Helen Zhao 

  STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
  That the Lulu Island Energy Company report titled “2024 Financial 

Statements for the Lulu Island Energy Company”, dated April 10, 2025, 
from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, be received 
for information. 

  

 
  RICHMOND OLYMPIC OVAL CORPORATION 
 
 5. RICHMOND OLYMPIC OVAL CORPORATION 2024 AUDITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(File Ref. No.) (REDMS No.) 

  Report distributed separately at a later date  
  Designated Speaker:  Rick Dusanj 
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ADJOURNMENT 
  

 



City of 
Richmond Minutes 

Date: 

Place: 

Present: 

Absent: 

Special Finance Committee 

Tuesday, April 22, 2025 

Anderson Room 
Richmond City Hall 

Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie, Chair 
Councillor Carol Day 
Councillor Laura Gillanders 
Councillor Kash Heed 
Councillor Andy Hobbs 
Councillor Alexa Loo 
Councillor Bill McNulty 
Councillor Michael Wolfe 

Councillor Chak Au 

Call to Order: The Chair called the meeting to order at 5: 10 p.m. 

MINUTES 

It was moved and seconded 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Special Finance Committee held on 
April 15, 2024, and the Finance Committee held on April 7, 2025 be 
adopted as circulated. 

CARRIED 

FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION 

1. ANNUAL PROPERTY TAX RATES (2025) BYLAW NO. 10653 
(File Ref. No. 03-1240-01) (REDMS No. 7957895) 

It was moved and seconded 
That the Annual Property Tax Rates (2025) Bylaw No. 10653 be introduced 
and given first, second and third readings. 

CARRIED 

1. 
FIN – 4



Special Finance Committee 
Tuesday,April22,2025 

ADJOURNMENT 

It was moved and seconded 
That the meeting adjourn (5:11 p.m.). 

CARRIED 

Certified a true and correct copy of the 
Minutes of the meeting of the Finance 
Committee of the Council of the City of 
Richmond held on Tuesday, April 22, 
2025. 

Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie 
Chair 

Raman Grewal 
Legislative Services Associate 

2. 

8031564 FIN – 5



1
©

 2
02

4 
KP

M
G

 L
LP

, a
n 

O
nt

ar
io

 li
m

ite
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f t
he

 K
PM

G
 g

lo
ba

l o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
af

fil
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 K
PM

G
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l L

im
ite

d,
 a

 p
riv

at
e 

En
gl

is
h 

co
m

pa
ny

 li
m

ite
d 

by
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

Ci
ty

 o
f 

Ri
ch

m
on

d
A

ud
it

 F
in

di
ng

s 
R

ep
or

t
fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
 e

nd
ed

 D
ec

em
be

r 
31

, 2
02

4

P
re

pa
re

d 
A

pr
il 

15
, 

20
25

 f
or

 p
re

se
nt

at
io

n 
on

 M
ay

 5
, 

20
25

kp
m

g.
ca

/a
ud

it

FIN – 6

https://home.kpmg/ca/en/home/services/audit.html


2
©

 2
02

4 
KP

M
G

 L
LP

, a
n 

O
nt

ar
io

 li
m

ite
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f t
he

 K
PM

G
 g

lo
ba

l o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
af

fil
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 K
PM

G
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l L

im
ite

d,
 a

 p
riv

at
e 

En
gl

is
h 

co
m

pa
ny

 li
m

ite
d 

by
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

KP
M

G 
co

nt
ac

ts
K

ey
 c

on
ta

ct
s 

in
 c

on
ne

ct
io

n 
w

ith
 th

is
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t

Aa
nu

 A
de

le
ye

, M
B

A,
 C

PA
, C

PA
 (I

lli
no

is
) *

 
En

ga
ge

m
en

t P
ar

tn
er

60
4-

52
7-

37
46

aa
de

le
ye

@
kp

m
g.

ca
 

 C
hi

to
 L

o,
 M

Sc
, C

PA
, C

A
En

ga
ge

m
en

t S
en

io
r M

an
ag

er
51

4-
84

0-
26

30
ch

ito
lo

@
kp

m
g.

ca
 

* W
e 

ha
ve

 tr
an

si
tio

ne
d 

th
e 

ro
le

 o
f E

ng
ag

em
en

t P
ar

tn
er

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 th

e 
C

ity
 o

f R
ic

hm
on

d.
 T

hi
s 

ch
an

ge
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

di
sc

us
se

d 
w

ith
 a

nd
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 M

an
ag

em
en

t.

B
ra

nd
on

 M
a

En
ga

ge
m

en
t Q

ua
lit

y 
C

on
tro

l R
ev

ie
w

 P
ar

tn
er

60
4-

61
7-

38
80

bj
m

a@
kp

m
g.

ca
 

FIN – 7

mailto:aadeleye@kpmg.ca
mailto:chitolo@kpmg.ca
mailto:aadeleye@kpmg.ca


3
©

 2
02

4 
KP

M
G

 L
LP

, a
n 

O
nt

ar
io

 li
m

ite
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f t
he

 K
PM

G
 g

lo
ba

l o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
af

fil
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 K
PM

G
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l L

im
ite

d,
 a

 p
riv

at
e 

En
gl

is
h 

co
m

pa
ny

 li
m

ite
d 

by
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

Ta
bl

e o
f c

on
te

nt
s

4
H

ig
hl

ig
ht

s

6
R

is
ks

 a
nd

 
re

su
lts

12
C

on
tr

ol
 

de
fic

ie
nc

ie
s 

15
Au

di
t q

ua
lit

y

5
St

at
us

Di
gi

ta
l u

se
 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

Th
is

 A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t 
is

 a
ls

o 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

as
 a

 
“h

yp
er

-li
nk

ed
” P

D
F 

do
cu

m
en

t. 
If 

yo
u 

ar
e 

re
ad

in
g 

in
 

el
ec

tro
ni

c 
fo

rm
 (e

.g
. I

n 
“A

do
be

 R
ea

de
r” 

or
 “B

oa
rd

 
Bo

ok
s”

), 
cl

ic
ki

ng
 o

n 
th

e 
ho

m
e 

sy
m

bo
l o

n 
th

e 
to

p 
rig

ht
 c

or
ne

r w
ill 

br
in

g 
yo

u 
ba

ck
 to

 th
is

 s
lid

e.
 

 
C

lic
k 

on
 a

ny
 it

em
 in

 th
e 

ta
bl

e 
of

 c
on

te
nt

s 
to

 
na

vi
ga

te
 to

 th
at

 s
ec

tio
n.

13
Po

lic
ie

s 
an

d 
pr

ac
tic

es

16
Ap

pe
nd

ic
es

Th
e 

pu
rp

os
e 

of
 th

is
 re

po
rt 

is
 to

 a
ss

is
t y

ou
, a

s 
a 

m
em

be
r o

f R
ic

hm
on

d 
C

ity
 C

ou
nc

il 
(“C

ou
nc

il”
), 

in
 y

ou
r r

ev
ie

w
 o

f t
he

 re
su

lts
 o

f o
ur

 a
ud

it 
of

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

. 
Th

is
 re

po
rt 

is
 in

te
nd

ed
 s

ol
el

y 
fo

r t
he

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

us
e 

of
 M

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

sh
ou

ld
 n

ot
 b

e 
us

ed
 fo

r a
ny

 o
th

er
 p

ur
po

se
 o

r a
ny

 o
th

er
 p

ar
ty

. K
PM

G
 s

ha
ll 

ha
ve

 n
o 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
or

 li
ab

ilit
y 

fo
r l

os
s 

or
 d

am
ag

es
 o

r c
la

im
s,

 if
 a

ny
, t

o 
or

 b
y 

an
y 

th
ird

 p
ar

ty
 a

s 
th

is
 re

po
rt 

ha
s 

no
t b

ee
n 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r, 

an
d 

is
 n

ot
 in

te
nd

ed
 fo

r, 
an

d 
sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

us
ed

 b
y,

 a
ny

 th
ird

 p
ar

ty
 o

r f
or

 a
ny

 o
th

er
 p

ur
po

se
.

FIN – 8



4
©

 2
02

4 
KP

M
G

 L
LP

, a
n 

O
nt

ar
io

 li
m

ite
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f t
he

 K
PM

G
 g

lo
ba

l o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
af

fil
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 K
PM

G
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l L

im
ite

d,
 a

 p
riv

at
e 

En
gl

is
h 

co
m

pa
ny

 li
m

ite
d 

by
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

Au
di

t h
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

To
pi

c
St

at
us

W
e 

ha
ve

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 th

e 
au

di
t o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 w
ith

 th
e 

ex
ce

pt
io

n 
of

 c
er

ta
in

 re
m

ai
ni

ng
 o

ut
st

an
di

ng
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s,
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 
hi

gh
lig

ht
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

‘S
ta

tu
s’

 s
lid

e 
of

 th
is

 re
po

rt.

M
is

st
at

em
en

ts
 - 

un
co

rr
ec

te
d

U
nc

or
re

ct
ed

 m
is

st
at

em
en

ts

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 

ch
an

ge
s

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 c

ha
ng

es
 s

in
ce

 o
ur

 a
ud

it 
pl

an

•
N

o 
ch

an
ge

 to
 ri

sk
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t
•

N
o 

ch
an

ge
 to

 a
ud

it 
st

ra
te

gy
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t
M

is
st

at
em

en
ts

 - 
co

rr
ec

te
d

C
or

re
ct

ed
 m

is
st

at
em

en
ts

M
at

te
rs

 to
 re

po
rt 

– 
se

e 
lin

k 
fo

r d
et

ai
ls

N
o 

m
at

te
rs

 to
 re

po
rt

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 ri

sk
s

O
th

er
 ri

sk
s 

of
 m

at
er

ia
l m

is
st

at
em

en
t 

Ri
sk

s a
nd

 
re

su
lts

O
th

er
 a

re
as

 o
f a

ud
it 

fo
cu

s

Co
nt

ro
l 

de
fic

ie
nc

ie
s

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 d

ef
ic

ie
nc

ie
s

•
Pr

es
um

ed
 ri

sk
 o

f m
an

ag
em

en
t o

ve
rri

de
 o

f c
on

tro
ls

•
R

ev
en

ue
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

ne
w

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

st
an

da
rd

s,
 d

ef
er

re
d 

re
ve

nu
e,

 a
nd

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t c
os

t c
ha

rg
es

 
•

Ex
pe

ns
es

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 s

al
ar

y 
an

d 
be

ne
fit

s 
ex

pe
ns

e
•

Ta
ng

ib
le

 c
ap

ita
l a

ss
et

s

Po
lic

ie
s a

nd
 

pr
ac

tic
es

Ac
co

un
tin

g 
po

lic
ie

s 
an

d 
pr

ac
tic

es

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 u

nu
su

al
 tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns

O
th

er
 d

ef
ic

ie
nc

ie
s

H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

R
is

ks
 a

nd
 R

es
ul

ts
Ap

pe
nd

ic
es

St
at

us
Po

lic
ie

s 
an

d 
Pr

ac
tic

es
C

on
tro

l o
bs

er
va

tio
ns

Au
di

t Q
ua

lit
y

Pu
rp

os
e 

of
 th

is
 

re
po

rt

Th
e 

pu
rp

os
e 

of
 th

is
 A

ud
it 

Fi
nd

in
gs

 R
ep

or
t i

s 
to

 a
ss

is
t y

ou
, a

s 
a 

m
em

be
r o

f 
R

ic
hm

on
d 

C
ity

 C
ou

nc
il 

(“C
ou

nc
il”

) i
n 

yo
ur

 re
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 re
su

lts
 o

f t
he

 
co

ns
ol

id
at

ed
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 (h

er
ei

na
fte

r r
ef

er
re

d 
to

 a
s 

th
e 

“fi
na

nc
ia

l 
st

at
em

en
ts

”) 
of

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f R

ic
hm

on
d 

(th
e 

“C
ity

”) 
as

 a
t a

nd
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r 
en

de
d 

D
ec

em
be

r 3
1,

 2
02

4.
 O

ur
 a

ud
it 

ha
s 

be
en

 p
er

fo
rm

ed
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 C
an

ad
ia

n 
ge

ne
ra

lly
 a

cc
ep

te
d 

au
di

tin
g 

st
an

da
rd

s 
(C

AS
).

Cu
rr

re
nt

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ts
Th

er
e 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
no

 u
pd

at
es

 to
 th

e 
cu

rre
nt

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

ts
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 
ou

r A
ud

it 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 R

ep
or

t t
ha

t w
as

 p
re

vi
ou

sl
y 

pr
ov

id
ed

 to
 y

ou
.

C
ur

re
nt

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

ts

Qu
al

ity
 c

on
tr

ol
 

an
d 

In
de

pe
nd

en
ce

W
e 

co
nf

irm
 th

at
 w

e 
ar

e 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t w
ith

 re
sp

ec
t t

o 
th

e 
C

ity
w

ith
in

 th
e 

m
ea

ni
ng

 o
f t

he
 re

le
va

nt
 ru

le
s 

an
d 

re
la

te
d 

in
te

rp
re

ta
tio

ns
 p

re
sc

rib
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

re
le

va
nt

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l b
od

ie
s 

in
 C

an
ad

a 
an

d 
an

y 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 le
gi

sl
at

io
n 

or
 

re
gu

la
tio

n 
fro

m
 J

an
ua

ry
 1

, 2
02

4 
up

 to
 th

e 
da

te
 o

f t
hi

s 
re

po
rt.

W
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
m

is
st

at
em

en
ts

 th
at

 re
m

ai
n 

un
co

rre
ct

ed
 in

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 
st

at
em

en
ts

. B
as

ed
 o

n 
bo

th
 q

ua
lit

at
iv

e 
an

d 
qu

an
tit

at
iv

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
ns

, m
an

ag
em

en
t h

as
 d

ec
id

ed
 n

ot
 to

 c
or

re
ct

 th
e 

m
is

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

nd
 re

pr
es

en
te

d 
to

 u
s 

th
at

 th
e 

m
is

st
at

em
en

ts
 - 

in
di

vi
du

al
ly

 a
nd

 in
 th

e 
ag

gr
eg

at
e 

- a
re

, i
n 

th
ei

r j
ud

gm
en

t, 
no

t 
m

at
er

ia
l t

o 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
. 

W
e 

co
nc

ur
 th

at
 th

e 
un

co
rre

ct
ed

 m
is

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 n

ot
 m

at
er

ia
l t

o 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
. A

cc
or

di
ng

ly
, t

he
 u

nc
or

re
ct

ed
 

m
is

st
at

em
en

ts
 h

av
e 

no
 e

ffe
ct

 o
n 

ou
r a

ud
ito

r’s
 re

po
rt.

•
Va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 p

os
t-e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t b

en
ef

it 
lia

bi
lit

y

FIN – 9



5
©

 2
02

4 
KP

M
G

 L
LP

, a
n 

O
nt

ar
io

 li
m

ite
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f t
he

 K
PM

G
 g

lo
ba

l o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
af

fil
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 K
PM

G
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l L

im
ite

d,
 a

 p
riv

at
e 

En
gl

is
h 

co
m

pa
ny

 li
m

ite
d 

by
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

St
at

us
As

 o
f t

he
 d

at
e 

of
 th

is
 re

po
rt,

 w
e 

ha
ve

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 th

e 
au

di
t o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, w
ith

 th
e 

ex
ce

pt
io

n 
of

 
ce

rta
in

 re
m

ai
ni

ng
 p

ro
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t r
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 s
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.
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 re
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l o
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t o
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at
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e 

ab
ov

e 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

. O
ur

 a
ud

ito
r’s

 re
po

rt,
 a

 d
ra

ft 
of

 w
hi

ch
 is

 in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
dr

af
t f

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, w
ill 

be
 d

at
ed

 u
po

n 
th

e 
co

m
pl

et
io

n 
of

 a
ny

 re
m

ai
ni

ng
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s.

H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

R
is

ks
 a

nd
 R

es
ul

ts
Ap

pe
nd

ic
es

St
at

us
Po

lic
ie

s 
an

d 
Pr

ac
tic

es
C

on
tro

l o
bs

er
va

tio
ns

Au
di

t Q
ua

lit
y

FIN – 10



6
©

 2
02

4 
KP

M
G

 L
LP

, a
n 

O
nt

ar
io

 li
m

ite
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f t
he

 K
PM

G
 g

lo
ba

l o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
af

fil
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 K
PM

G
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l L

im
ite

d,
 a

 p
riv

at
e 

En
gl

is
h 

co
m

pa
ny

 li
m

ite
d 

by
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

As
 th

e 
ris

k 
is

 n
ot

 re
bu

tta
bl

e,
 o

ur
 a

ud
it 

m
et

ho
do

lo
gy

 in
co

rp
or

at
es

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 in

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
is

 ri
sk

. T
he

se
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
in

cl
ud

e:

•
Te

st
in

g 
of

 jo
ur

na
l e

nt
rie

s 
an

d 
ot

he
r a

dj
us

tm
en

ts
.

•
Pe

rfo
rm

in
g 

a 
re

tro
sp

ec
tiv

e 
re

vi
ew

 o
f s

ig
ni

fic
an

t e
st

im
at

es
 a

nd
 e

va
lu

at
in

g 
th

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 ra

tio
na

le
 o

f s
ig

ni
fic

an
t u

nu
su

al
 tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
.

•
U

til
iz

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n 

so
ftw

ar
e 

to
 e

va
lu

at
e 

th
e 

co
m

pl
et

en
es

s 
of

 th
e 

jo
ur

na
l e

nt
ry

 p
op

ul
at

io
n 

th
ro

ug
h 

a 
ro

ll-
fo

rw
ar

d 
of

 a
ll 

ac
co

un
ts

. W
e 

us
ed

 c
om

pu
te

r-a
ss

is
te

d 
au

di
t t

ec
hn

iq
ue

s 
(C

AA
Ts

) t
o 

an
al

yz
e 

jo
ur

na
l e

nt
rie

s 
an

d 
ap

pl
y 

ce
rta

in
 c

rit
er

ia
 to

 id
en

tif
y 

po
te

nt
ia

l h
ig

h-
ris

k 
jo

ur
na

l e
nt

rie
s 

fo
r f

ur
th

er
 te

st
in

g.

•
R

ev
ie

w
in

g
th

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

es
tim

at
es

 a
nd

 a
ss

es
si

ng
 w

he
th

er
 m

an
ag

em
en

t’s
 e

st
im

at
es

 a
re

 re
as

on
ab

le
 a

nd
 n

ot
 in

di
ca

tiv
e 

of
 m

an
ag

em
en

t b
ia

s.

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 ri

sk

W
e 

hi
gh

lig
ht

 o
ur

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t f

in
di

ng
s 

in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f s

ig
ni

fic
an

t r
is

ks
. 

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 ri

sk
s a

nd
 re

su
lts

Th
er

e 
w

er
e 

no
 is

su
es

 n
ot

ed
 in

 o
ur

 te
st

in
g.

M
an

ag
em

en
t i

s 
in

 a
 u

ni
qu

e 
po

si
tio

n 
to

 p
er

pe
tra

te
 fr

au
d 

be
ca

us
e 

of
 it

s 
ab

ilit
y 

to
 m

an
ip

ul
at

e 
ac

co
un

tin
g 

re
co

rd
s 

an
d 

pr
ep

ar
e 

fra
ud

ul
en

t f
in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 b

y 
ov

er
rid

in
g 

co
nt

ro
ls

 th
at

 
ot

he
rw

is
e 

ap
pe

ar
 to

 b
e 

op
er

at
in

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y.
 A

lth
ou

gh
 th

e 
le

ve
l o

f r
is

k 
of

 m
an

ag
em

en
t o

ve
rri

de
 o

f c
on

tro
ls

 w
ill 

va
ry

 fr
om

 e
nt

ity
 to

 e
nt

ity
, t

he
 ri

sk
 n

ev
er

th
el

es
s 

is
 p

re
se

nt
 in

 a
ll 

en
tit

ie
s.

R
is

k 
as

se
ss

m
en

t
R

is
k 

of
 m

an
ag

em
en

t o
ve

rr
id

e 
of

 c
on

tr
ol

s
pr

es
um

ed
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t r
is

k 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 C
an

ad
ia

n 
Au

di
tin

g 
St

an
da

rd
s 

(“
C

AS
”)

 2
40

O
ur

 re
sp

on
se

O
ur

 fi
nd

in
gs

 

H
ig

hl
ig

ht
s

R
is

ks
 a

nd
 R

es
ul

ts
Ap

pe
nd

ic
es

St
at

us
Po

lic
ie

s 
an

d 
Pr

ac
tic

es
C

on
tro

l o
bs

er
va

tio
ns

Au
di

t Q
ua

lit
y

R
IS

K 
O

F

FR
AU

D

FIN – 11



7
©

 2
02

4 
KP

M
G

 L
LP

, a
n 

O
nt

ar
io

 li
m

ite
d 

lia
bi

lit
y 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 a

nd
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f t
he

 K
PM

G
 g

lo
ba

l o
rg

an
iz

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
af

fil
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 K
PM

G
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l L

im
ite

d,
 a

 p
riv

at
e 

En
gl

is
h 

co
m

pa
ny

 li
m

ite
d 

by
 g

ua
ra

nt
ee

. A
ll 

rig
ht

s 
re

se
rv

ed
. 

Ot
he

r r
is

ks
 of

 m
at

er
ia

l m
is

st
at

em
en

t a
nd

 re
su

lts

R
ev

en
ue

 fr
om

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 o
bl

ig
at

io
ns

 a
re

 re
co

gn
iz

ed
 w

he
n 

th
e 

C
ity

 s
at

is
fie

s 
th

e 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 o
bl

ig
at

io
n 

by
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 th
e 

pr
om

is
ed

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 a
 p

ay
or

. R
ev

en
ue

 fr
om

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

 n
o 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 o

bl
ig

at
io

ns
 a

re
 re

co
gn

iz
ed

 w
he

n 
th

e 
C

ity
 h

as
 th

e 
au

th
or

ity
 

to
 c

la
im

 th
e 

ec
on

om
ic

 in
flo

w
 a

nd
 a

n 
ev

en
t h

as
 g

iv
en

 ri
se

 to
 th

e 
as

se
t. 

R
ev

en
ue

 re
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 c
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r b
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R
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ro
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(Letterhead of City of Richmond) 
 
MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER 

 
KPMG LLP 
P.O. Box 10426  
777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver, BC V5Y 1K3 

Date of Council’s acceptance of the financial statements 

We are writing at your request to confirm our understanding that your audit was for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as “financial 
statements”) of the City of Richmond (the “City”) as at and for the period ended December 31, 2024. 

General: 

We confirm that the representations we make in this letter are in accordance with the definitions as 
set out in Attachment I to this letter. 

We also confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Responsibilities: 

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the engagement letter dated 
October 26, 2022, including for: 

a) the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and believe that these 
financial statements have been prepared and present fairly in accordance with the 
relevant financial reporting framework. 

b) providing you with all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the 
preparation of the financial statements (“relevant information”), such as financial 
records, documentation and other matters, including: 

 the names of all related parties and information regarding all relationships and 
transactions with related parties; and 

 the complete minutes of meetings, or summaries of actions of recent meetings for 
which minutes have not yet been prepared, of Council and committees of Council 
that may affect the financial statements. All significant actions are included in such 
summaries. 

c) providing you with unrestricted access to such relevant information. 

d) providing you with complete responses to all enquiries made by you during the 
engagement. 

e) providing you with additional information that you may request from us for the purpose 
of the engagement. 

f) providing you with unrestricted access to persons within the City from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

g) such internal control as we determined is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. We also acknowledge and understand that we are responsible for the design, 
implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud. 

h) ensuring that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are 
reflected in the financial statements. 

FIN – 24
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Internal control over financial reporting: 

2) We have communicated to you all deficiencies in the design and implementation or 
maintenance of internal control over financial reporting of which we are aware. 

Fraud & non-compliance with laws and regulations: 

3) We have disclosed to you: 

a) the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially 
misstated as a result of fraud. 

b) all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of that involves:  

 management; 

 employees who have significant roles in internal control over financial reporting; or  

 others; 

where such fraud or suspected fraud could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. 

c) all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 
financial statements, communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, 
regulators, short-sellers, or others. 

d) all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and 
regulations, including all aspects of contractual agreements or illegal acts, whose 
effects should be considered when preparing financial statements. 

e) all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements. 

f) We have disclosed to you all information regarding investigations into possible fraud 
and/or non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, 
including illegal acts, that we have undertaken at our discretion and completed, 
including the results of such investigations, and the resolution of the matters, if any, 
identified in such investigations. 

Subsequent events: 

4) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the relevant 
financial reporting framework requires adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements 
have been adjusted or disclosed. 

Related parties: 

5) We have disclosed to you the identity of the City’s related parties. 
6) We have disclosed to you all the related party relationships and transactions/balances of 

which we are aware. 

7) All related party relationships and transactions/balances have been appropriately accounted 
for and disclosed in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework. 

Estimates: 

8) The methods, the data and the significant assumptions used in making accounting 
estimates, and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition, 
measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial 
reporting framework. 
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Going concern: 

9) We have provided you with all information relevant to the use of the going concern 
assumption in the financial statements. 

10) We confirm that we are not aware of material uncertainties related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt upon the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Other information: 

11) We confirm that the final version of the 2024 annual report will be provided to you when 
available, and prior to issuance by the City, to enable you to complete your required 
procedures in accordance with professional standards. 

Misstatements:  

12) The effects of the uncorrected misstatements described in Attachment II are immaterial, 
both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. 

Non-SEC registrants or non-reporting issuers: 

13) We confirm that the City is not a Canadian reporting issuer (as defined under any applicable 
Canadian securities act) and is not a United States Securities and Exchange Commission 
(“SEC”) Issuer (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).  

14) We also confirm that the financial statements of the City will not be included in the group 
financial statements of a Canadian reporting issuer audited by KPMG or an SEC Issuer 
audited by any member of the KPMG organization. 

Employee future benefits: 

15) The employee future benefits costs, assets and obligation have been determined, 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the financial reporting framework. 

16) The information provided by us to George & Bell Consulting (the “Expert”) and used in the 
work and findings of the Expert are complete and accurate. We agree with the findings of the 
Expert in evaluating post-employment future benefits and have adequately considered the 
qualifications of the Expert in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the financial 
statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give nor cause any instructions to 
be given to the Expert with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to bias 
their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an impact on the 
independence and objectivity of the Expert. 

Yours very truly, 

______________________________________           
Serena Lusk, Chief Administrative Officer 

____________________________________________________           
Jerry Chong, General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
 
 
______________________________________               
Mike Ching, Director, Finance 

______________________________________               
Cindy Gilfillan, Manager, Financial Reporting 
cc: Richmond City Council   
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Attachment I – Definitions 
Materiality 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material.  

Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.  

Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by 
perception of the needs of, or the characteristics of, the users of the financial statements and the 
size or nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both while also considering the entity’s own 
circumstances. 

Information is obscured if it is communicated in a way that would have a similar effect for users of 
financial statements to omitting or misstating that information. The following are examples of 
circumstances that may result in material information being obscured: 

a) information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is disclosed in the financial 
statements but the language used is vague or unclear; 

b) information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is scattered throughout the 
financial statements; 

c) dissimilar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately aggregated; 

d) similar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately disaggregated; and 

e) the understandability of the financial statements is reduced as a result of material 
information being hidden by immaterial information to the extent that a primary user is 
unable to determine what information is material. 

Fraud & error 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or 
disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity’s assets. It is often accompanied by false 
or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or have 
been pledged without proper authorization. 
An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an 
amount or a disclosure. 
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Attachment II – Summary of Audit Misstatements Schedules 
Summary of Uncorrected Audit Misstatements 2024 

 

      
 
Uncorrected Misstatements 

 
Annual 
Surplus 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

 
Asset 

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

 
   Liability 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

Opening 
Accumulated 

Surplus 
(Increase) / 
Decrease 

1 Dr. Opening surplus (factual) 
  Cr. Provincial and federal contributions 

The effects of an out-of-period 
adjustment to Major Road Network 
revenue of fiscal year 2024 made by 
management in order to record revenue 
in the period where the transfer 
stipulations have been satisfied. 

 
 

- 
(6,497,346) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

6,497,346 
- 

 Total (6,497,346) - - 6,497,346 
 
 
 

Summary of Corrected Audit Misstatements 2024 
 

We did not identify misstatements that were communicated to management and subsequently 
corrected in the financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FIN – 28



21 
 

Summary of Uncorrected Audit Misstatements 2023 (updated) 
 

      
 
Uncorrected Misstatements 

 
Annual 
Surplus 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

 
Asset 

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

 
   Liability 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

Opening 
Accumulated 

Surplus 
(Increase) / 
Decrease 

1 Dr. Opening surplus (factual) 
  Cr. Provincial and federal contributions 
  Cr. Deferred revenue 

 
To appropriately reflect revenue 
recognition of Major Road Network 
revenue of fiscal year 2023, and record 
revenue in the period where the transfer 
stipulations have been satisfied. 
 

- 
(1,134,089) 

- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

(6,497,346) 

7,631,435 
- 
- 

 Total (1,134,089) - (6,497,346) 7,631,435 
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April 9, 2025 - 2 -

Staff Report 

Origin 

Sections 98 and 167 of the Community Charter require that the City of Richmond (the City) 
prepare annual audited financial statements. The City's audited consolidated financial statements 
for 2024 have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards as 
prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of 
Canada. 

This report supports Council's Strategic Plan 2022-2026 Focus Area #4 Responsible Financial 
Management and Governance: 

Responsible financial management and efficient use of public resources to meet the needs 
of the community. 

4.1 Ensure effective financial planning to support a sustainable fitture for the City. 

4.3 Foster community trust through open, transparent and accountable budgeting 
practices and processes. 

Analysis 

KPMG LLP (KPMG) has been appointed by City Council to independently audit the City's 
consolidated financial statements. They have expressed an opinion, that the City's consolidated 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
the City as at December 31, 2024, and its consolidated results of operation, its consolidated 
changes in net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The complete Audit Findings 
Repmi is included as Attachment 1. 

The annual financial statements and the auditor's report for the year ended December 31, 2024 
are included as Attachment 2. 

The consolidated financial statements combine the accounts of the City of Richmond, Richmond 
Olympic Oval and Richmond Public Library. The City's investment in Lulu Island Energy 
Company, a wholly owned government business enterprise, is accounted for using the modified 
equity method. Further information about the basis of consolidation is listed in Note 2 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

An analysis of the consolidated financial statements as prepared by management is provided in 
the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (FSD&A) included in Attachment 3. The 
FSD&A explains the significant differences in the financial statements between the reported year 
and the previous year as well as between budgeted and actual results. This analysis is intended to 
be read in conjunction with the audited 2024 consolidated financial statements. 

8021882 
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Adoption of new accounting standards 

New Public Sector accounting standards (PS) and guidelines (PSG) were adopted effective for 
the 2024 consolidated financial statements. The new standards and guidelines include: 

1. PS 3160 Public Private Partnerships. This standard addresses the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of infrastructure procured by public sector 
entities through certain types of public private paiinership arrangements. The adoption of 
these standards did not have any impact on the amounts presented in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

2. PSG-8 Purchased Intangibles. This guideline defines purchased intangibles as identifiable 
non-monetaiy economic resources without physical substance acquired through an ann's 
length exchange transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no 
compulsion to act. The adoption of these guidelines did not have any impact on the 
amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements. 

3. PS 3400 Revenue. This standard establishes how to account for and report on revenue 
arising from transactions that include perfonnance obligations and applies to all revenues, 
except for taxation revenues, government transfers, income from investments in GBE and 
other revenues which are covered in other PS. Details on the impact of adopting these 
standards on the amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements is provided in 
Attachment 2, Note 3(c). 

Financial Impact 

None. 

Conclusion 

The City's audited consolidated financial statements for 2024 have been prepared in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting 
Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. As noted in the Auditors' Report, it 
is the Auditors' opinion that these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2024, and its 
consolidated results of operation, its consolidated changes in net financial assets and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

Cindy Gilfillan, CPA, CMA 
Manager, Financial Reporting 
( 604-27 6-4077) 

Att. 1: Audit Findings Rep011 for the year ended December 31, 2024 
2: 2024 City of Richmond Consolidated Financial Statements 
3: 2024 Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis 
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 b
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 d
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 p
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 d
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e 
ar

e 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t w
ith

 re
sp

ec
t t

o 
th

e 
C

ity
w

ith
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e 

m
ea

ni
ng

 o
f t

he
 re

le
va

nt
 ru

le
s 

an
d 

re
la

te
d 

in
te

rp
re

ta
tio

ns
 p

re
sc

rib
ed

 b
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 p
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l b
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rt.

W
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
m

is
st

at
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 re
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at
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 c
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at
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 m
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m
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t b
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 p
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at
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 d
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 c
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 re
m

ai
ni

ng
 p

ro
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r d
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t r
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 s
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 re
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 p

ro
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l o
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t o
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at
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 d
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 d
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 p

ro
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R
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 re
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l s
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 p
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.
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.
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at
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 p
op

ul
at

io
n 

th
ro

ug
h 

a 
ro

ll-
fo

rw
ar

d 
of

 a
ll 

ac
co

un
ts

. W
e 

us
ed

 c
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 c
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 re
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t b
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t o
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fic
an

t r
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 o
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 p
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 m
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t f
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 b
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f r
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f c
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 p
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s.
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 c
on

tr
ol

s
pr

es
um

ed
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t r
is

k 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 C
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 re
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R
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Ot
he

r r
is

ks
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 m
at

er
ia

l m
is

st
at

em
en

t a
nd

 re
su

lts

R
ev

en
ue

 fr
om

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
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 w
ith

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 o
bl

ig
at

io
ns

 a
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 re
co
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iz

ed
 w

he
n 
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e 
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ity

 s
at

is
fie

s 
th

e 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 o
bl

ig
at

io
n 
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 p

ro
vi

di
ng
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e 

pr
om

is
ed

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce
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 p

ay
or

. R
ev

en
ue

 fr
om

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
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 w
ith

 n
o 

pe
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rm
an

ce
 o

bl
ig

at
io

ns
 a
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gn

iz
ed

 w
he

n 
th
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 c
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 in
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w
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nd
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n 
ev

en
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iv
en

 ri
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 th
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ev

en
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 re
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er
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lu
di

ng
 p

ro
pe

rty
 ta
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s,

 d
ev

el
op

m
en
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st
 c
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 (“
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go

ve
rn
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en
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 c
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ut
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r b
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 d
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 w
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R
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 C
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 c
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l m
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l m
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R
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l o
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ou

r u
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 o
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 p
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 c
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 d
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 c
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 b
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 re
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 c
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 d
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 d
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 re
co

gn
iz

ed
, o

r t
he

 a
m

ou
nt

 w
as

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

ly
 d
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 c

as
h 

re
ce

ip
ts

 a
nd

 th
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

le
tte

r.

•
W

e 
as

se
ss

ed
 w

he
th

er
 th
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r o
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 p
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(Letterhead of City of Richmond) 
 
MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER 

 
KPMG LLP 
P.O. Box 10426  
777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver, BC V5Y 1K3 

Date of Council’s acceptance of the financial statements 

We are writing at your request to confirm our understanding that your audit was for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the consolidated financial statements (hereinafter referred to as “financial 
statements”) of the City of Richmond (the “City”) as at and for the period ended December 31, 2024. 

General: 

We confirm that the representations we make in this letter are in accordance with the definitions as 
set out in Attachment I to this letter. 

We also confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Responsibilities: 

1) We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the engagement letter dated 
October 26, 2022, including for: 

a) the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and believe that these 
financial statements have been prepared and present fairly in accordance with the 
relevant financial reporting framework. 

b) providing you with all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the 
preparation of the financial statements (“relevant information”), such as financial 
records, documentation and other matters, including: 

 the names of all related parties and information regarding all relationships and 
transactions with related parties; and 

 the complete minutes of meetings, or summaries of actions of recent meetings for 
which minutes have not yet been prepared, of Council and committees of Council 
that may affect the financial statements. All significant actions are included in such 
summaries. 

c) providing you with unrestricted access to such relevant information. 

d) providing you with complete responses to all enquiries made by you during the 
engagement. 

e) providing you with additional information that you may request from us for the purpose 
of the engagement. 

f) providing you with unrestricted access to persons within the City from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

g) such internal control as we determined is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. We also acknowledge and understand that we are responsible for the design, 
implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud. 

h) ensuring that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are 
reflected in the financial statements. 

FIN – 52



17 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

2) We have communicated to you all deficiencies in the design and implementation or
maintenance of internal control over financial reporting of which we are aware.

Fraud & non-compliance with laws and regulations: 

3) We have disclosed to you:

a) the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

b) all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of that involves:

 management;

 employees who have significant roles in internal control over financial reporting; or

 others;

where such fraud or suspected fraud could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

c) all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the
financial statements, communicated by employees, former employees, analysts,
regulators, short-sellers, or others.

d) all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations, including all aspects of contractual agreements or illegal acts, whose
effects should be considered when preparing financial statements.

e) all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered
when preparing the financial statements.

f) We have disclosed to you all information regarding investigations into possible fraud
and/or non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations,
including illegal acts, that we have undertaken at our discretion and completed,
including the results of such investigations, and the resolution of the matters, if any,
identified in such investigations.

Subsequent events: 

4) All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the relevant
financial reporting framework requires adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements
have been adjusted or disclosed.

Related parties: 

5) We have disclosed to you the identity of the City’s related parties.

6) We have disclosed to you all the related party relationships and transactions/balances of
which we are aware.

7) All related party relationships and transactions/balances have been appropriately accounted
for and disclosed in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework.

Estimates: 

8) The methods, the data and the significant assumptions used in making accounting
estimates, and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition,
measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in the context of the applicable financial
reporting framework.
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Going concern: 

9) We have provided you with all information relevant to the use of the going concern 
assumption in the financial statements. 

10) We confirm that we are not aware of material uncertainties related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt upon the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Other information: 

11) We confirm that the final version of the 2024 annual report will be provided to you when 
available, and prior to issuance by the City, to enable you to complete your required 
procedures in accordance with professional standards. 

Misstatements:  

12) The effects of the uncorrected misstatements described in Attachment II are immaterial, 
both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. 

Non-SEC registrants or non-reporting issuers: 

13) We confirm that the City is not a Canadian reporting issuer (as defined under any applicable 
Canadian securities act) and is not a United States Securities and Exchange Commission 
(“SEC”) Issuer (as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).  

14) We also confirm that the financial statements of the City will not be included in the group 
financial statements of a Canadian reporting issuer audited by KPMG or an SEC Issuer 
audited by any member of the KPMG organization. 

Employee future benefits: 

15) The employee future benefits costs, assets and obligation have been determined, 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the financial reporting framework. 

16) The information provided by us to George & Bell Consulting (the “Expert”) and used in the 
work and findings of the Expert are complete and accurate. We agree with the findings of the 
Expert in evaluating post-employment future benefits and have adequately considered the 
qualifications of the Expert in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the financial 
statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give nor cause any instructions to 
be given to the Expert with respect to the values or amounts derived in an attempt to bias 
their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an impact on the 
independence and objectivity of the Expert. 

Yours very truly, 

______________________________________           
Serena Lusk, Chief Administrative Officer 

____________________________________________________           
Jerry Chong, General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
 
 
______________________________________               
Mike Ching, Director, Finance 

______________________________________               
Cindy Gilfillan, Manager, Financial Reporting 
cc: Richmond City Council   
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Attachment I – Definitions 
Materiality 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material.  

Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.  

Judgments about materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances, and are affected by 
perception of the needs of, or the characteristics of, the users of the financial statements and the 
size or nature of a misstatement, or a combination of both while also considering the entity’s own 
circumstances. 

Information is obscured if it is communicated in a way that would have a similar effect for users of 
financial statements to omitting or misstating that information. The following are examples of 
circumstances that may result in material information being obscured: 

a) information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is disclosed in the financial 
statements but the language used is vague or unclear; 

b) information regarding a material item, transaction or other event is scattered throughout the 
financial statements; 

c) dissimilar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately aggregated; 

d) similar items, transactions or other events are inappropriately disaggregated; and 

e) the understandability of the financial statements is reduced as a result of material 
information being hidden by immaterial information to the extent that a primary user is 
unable to determine what information is material. 

Fraud & error 

Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements including omissions of amounts or 
disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. 

Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity’s assets. It is often accompanied by false 
or misleading records or documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing or have 
been pledged without proper authorization. 
An error is an unintentional misstatement in financial statements, including the omission of an 
amount or a disclosure. 
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Attachment II – Summary of Audit Misstatements Schedules 
Summary of Uncorrected Audit Misstatements 2024 

 

      
 
Uncorrected Misstatements 

 
Annual 
Surplus 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

 
Asset 

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

 
   Liability 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

Opening 
Accumulated 

Surplus 
(Increase) / 
Decrease 

1 Dr. Opening surplus (factual) 
  Cr. Provincial and federal contributions 

The effects of an out-of-period 
adjustment to Major Road Network 
revenue of fiscal year 2024 made by 
management in order to record revenue 
in the period where the transfer 
stipulations have been satisfied. 

 
 

- 
(6,497,346) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

6,497,346 
- 

 Total (6,497,346) - - 6,497,346 
 
 
 

Summary of Corrected Audit Misstatements 2024 
 

We did not identify misstatements that were communicated to management and subsequently 
corrected in the financial statements. 
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Summary of Uncorrected Audit Misstatements 2023 (updated) 
 

      
 
Uncorrected Misstatements 

 
Annual 
Surplus 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

 
Asset 

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

 
   Liability 

(Increase) / 
Decrease 

Opening 
Accumulated 

Surplus 
(Increase) / 
Decrease 

1 Dr. Opening surplus (factual) 
  Cr. Provincial and federal contributions 
  Cr. Deferred revenue 

 
To appropriately reflect revenue 
recognition of Major Road Network 
revenue of fiscal year 2023, and record 
revenue in the period where the transfer 
stipulations have been satisfied. 
 

- 
(1,134,089) 

- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 

(6,497,346) 

7,631,435 
- 
- 

 Total (1,134,089) - (6,497,346) 7,631,435 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Richmond 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Richmond (the “City”), which 
comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024 

 the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended 

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2024, and its consolidated results of 
operations, its consolidated changes in net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report.  

We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
review of the audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
Vancouver, Canada 
Date 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Financial Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 199,381 $ 321,479 
Investments (note 4) 1,590,310 1,380,383 
Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company (“LIEC”) (note 5) 39,855 37,098 
Accrued interest receivable 22,681 26,614 
Accounts receivable (note 6) 45,887 35,067 
Taxes receivable 27,123 20,533 
Development fees receivable 18,084 20,299 
Debt reserve fund - deposits (note 7) 960 1,468 
  1,944,281 1,842,941 
 
Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  125,784 103,234 
Asset retirement obligations (note 8) 11,120 11,893 
Post-employment benefits (note 9) 37,397 37,881 
Development cost charges (note 10) 226,012 241,634 
Deposits and holdbacks (note 11) 161,822 148,738 
Deferred revenue (note 12) 80,586  75,357 
Debt, net of sinking fund deposits (note 13) 89,092 98,629 
  731,813  717,366 
 
Net financial assets 1,212,468  1,125,575 
 
Non-Financial Assets 
Tangible capital assets (note 14)  2,840,927 2,694,902 
Inventory of materials and supplies 5,759 6,146 
Prepaid expenses 5,393 4,909 
  2,852,079 2,705,957 
 
Accumulated surplus (note 15) $ 4,064,547  $ 3,831,532 
 
Contingent demand notes (note 7) 
Contingent assets and contractual rights (note 18) 
Commitments and contingencies (note 19) 
 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
Approved on behalf of Council: 
 
 
 
   
General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 
  Budget 2024 2023 
  (notes 2(p) 
  and 25) 
Revenue: 

Taxation and levies (note 21) $ 306,676 $ 318,093 $ 297,793 
Utility fees 148,459 150,823   132,951 
Sales of services 54,556 57,450  50,737 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes (note 21) 14,650 20,054  18,114 
Provincial and federal contributions 26,637 13,545   38,660 
Development cost charges (note 10) 16,607 70,450  10,292 
Other capital funding sources 68,118 39,740  83,562 
Other revenue: 

Investment income 25,635 69,853  61,503 
Gaming revenue 12,500 11,971  13,013 
Licences and permits 12,832 19,856  15,934 
Other (note 22) 15,175 39,892  23,309 
Equity income in LIEC (note 5) 362 2,757  2,070 

  702,207 814,484   747,938 
 
Expenses: 

Law and community safety 158,119   152,746   142,001 
Utilities: flood, sanitation, sewer and water 147,380   144,647   133,166 
General government 84,020   74,564   76,288 
Engineering, transportation, public works and  

project development 83,659   71,322   69,915 
Parks, recreation and culture  79,733   78,173  71,328 
Planning and development 34,953   27,427   22,144 
Richmond Olympic Oval 20,274    20,351  19,200 
Richmond Public Library  12,496   12,239  11,533 
  620,634   581,469  545,575 

 
Annual surplus 81,573   233,015  202,363 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 3,831,532 3,831,532 3,629,169 
 
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 3,913,105 $ 4,064,547  $ 3,831,532 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 
  Budget 2024 2023 
  (notes 2(p) 
  and 25) 
 
Annual surplus for the year $ 81,573 $ 233,015  $ 202,363 
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets – current year (211,510) (187,379) (90,046) 
Contributed tangible capital assets (45,640) (31,065) (75,945) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 72,090 71,703 71,938 
Asset retirement obligation - (103) (7,081) 
Net gain on disposal of tangible  

capital assets - (2,514) (2,133) 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 3,333 2,577 
  (103,487) 86,990  101,673 
 
Acquisition of inventory of materials and supplies - (5,759) (6,146) 
Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (5,393) (4,909) 
Consumption of inventory of materials and supplies - 6,146 5,405 
Use of prepaid expenses - 4,909 3,827 
 
Change in net financial assets (103,487) 86,893 99,850 
 
Net financial assets, beginning of year 1,125,575 1,125,575  1,025,725 
 
Net financial assets, end of year $ 1,022,088 $ 1,212,468  $ 1,125,575  
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities:  
Annual surplus $ 233,015  $ 202,363 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 71,703 71,938 
Asset retirement obligation (876) 4,812 
Net gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (2,514) (2,133) 
Contributions of tangible capital assets (31,065) (75,945) 
Equity income in LIEC (2,757) (2,070) 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
Accrued interest receivable 3,933 (11,938) 
Accounts receivable (10,820) 947 
Taxes receivable (6,590) (5,310) 
Development fees receivable 2,215 22,920 
Inventory of materials and supplies 387 (741) 
Prepaid expenses  (484) (1,082) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,550 (348) 
Post-employment benefits (484) (647) 
Development cost charges (15,622) 4,583 
Deposits and holdbacks  13,084 (1,269) 
Deferred revenue  5,229 16,294  

Net change in cash from operating activities 280,904  222,374 
 
Capital activities:  

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (187,379) (90,046) 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 3,333 2,577  
Net change in cash from capital activities (184,046) (87,469) 

 
Financing activities: 

Repayments of debt (9,537) (9,187) 
Debt reserve fund 508 - 
Net change in cash from financing activities  (9,029) (9,187) 

 
Investing activities: 

Purchase of investments (209,927) (458,890) 
Net change in cash from investing activities (209,927) (458,890) 

 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (122,098) (333,172) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 321,479  654,651 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 199,381 $ 321,479  
 
Non-cash transactions, related to asset retirement obligations: 

Tangible capital asset additions $ 103 $ 7,081 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Operations: 

The City of Richmond (the “City”) is incorporated under the Local Government Act of British 
Columbia. The City’s principal activities include the provision of local government services to 
residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, transportation, 
infrastructure, environmental, recreational, water, sewer, and drainage. 

 

2. Significant accounting policies: 

These consolidated financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting 
Board (“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

These consolidated financial statements reflect a combination of the City’s General Revenue, 
General Capital and Loan, Waterworks and Sewerworks, and Reserve Funds consolidated 
with the Richmond Public Library Board (the “Library”) and the Richmond Olympic Oval 
Corporation (the “Oval”). The Library is consolidated as the Library Board is appointed by the 
City. The Oval is consolidated as they are a wholly-owned municipal corporation of the City. 
Interfund and inter-entity transactions, fund balances and activities have been eliminated on 
consolidation. The City’s investment in Lulu Island Energy Company (“LIEC”), a wholly-
owned government business enterprise (“GBE”), is accounted for using the modified equity 
method. 

(i) General Revenue Fund: 

This fund is used to account for the current operations of the City as provided for in the 
Annual Budget, including collection of taxes, administering operations, policing, and 
servicing general debt. 

(ii) General Capital and Loan Fund: 

This fund is used to record the City's tangible capital assets and work-in-progress, 
including engineering structures such as roads and bridges, and the related debt. 

(iii) Waterworks and Sewerworks Funds: 

These funds have been established to cover the costs of operating these utilities, with 
related capital and loan funds to record the related tangible capital assets and debt. 

(iv)  Reserve Funds: 

Certain funds are established by bylaws for specific purposes. They are funded primarily 
by budgeted contributions from the General Revenue Fund and developer contributions 
plus interest earned on fund balances. 
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Year ended December 31, 2024 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Basis of accounting: 

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenue and expenses. Expenses are 
recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods and services 
and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Government transfers: 

Restricted transfers from governments are deferred and recognized as revenue as the 
related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the related agreement are met. 
Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when received or if the amount to be 
received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

(d) Financial Instruments: 

Financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivables, 
development fees receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and debt. 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition. Equity instruments 
quoted in an active market and derivatives are subsequently measured at fair value as at the 
reporting date.  All other financial instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized 
cost unless management elects to carry the financial instrument at fair value. The City has 
not elected to carry any other financial instruments at fair value. 

Unrealized changes in fair value are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses. They are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations when they are realized. There are no unrealized changes in fair value as at 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. As a result, the City does not have a 
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. 

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments are recorded at cost 
and expensed as incurred. 

Sales and purchases of investments are recorded on the trade date. 

Accounts receivables, development fees receivable, investments, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, and debt are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

All financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis. When a decline is 
determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the loss is reported in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, highly liquid money market investments and 
short-term investments with maturities of less than 90-days from date of acquisition. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f) Investment in government business enterprises: 

Government business enterprises are recorded using the modified equity method of 
accounting. The City’s investment in the GBE is recorded as the value of the GBE’s 
shareholder’s equity. The investment’s income or loss is recognized by the City when it is 
earned by the GBE. Inter-organizational transactions and balances are not eliminated, except 
for any gains or losses on assets remaining within the City. 

(g) Accounts receivable and development fees receivable: 

Accounts receivable and development fees receivable are net of an allowance for doubtful 
accounts and therefore represent amounts expected to be collected. 

(h) Development cost charges: 

Development cost charges are restricted by legislation to expenditures on capital 
infrastructure. These amounts are deferred upon receipt and recognized as revenue when 
the expenditures are incurred in accordance with the restrictions. 

(i) Post-employment benefits: 

The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan. As this plan is 
a multi-employer plan, contributions are expensed as incurred. 

Post-employment benefits also accrue to the City’s employees. The liabilities related to these 
benefits are actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of retirement ages 
and expected future salary and wage increases. The liabilities under these benefits plans are 
accrued based on projected benefits prorated as employees render services necessary to 
earn the future benefits. 

(j) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 
not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are initially recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are 
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development, or betterment of the assets. 
The cost, less estimated residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are 
amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(i) Tangible capital assets (continued): 
 
Asset Useful life - years 
 
Buildings and building improvements  10 - 75 
Infrastructure  5 - 100 
Vehicles, machinery and equipment  3 - 40 
Library’s collections, furniture and equipment   4 - 20 
 
 
Amortization is charged over the asset’s useful life commencing when the asset is 
acquired. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for 
productive use. 

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the 
date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 

(iii) Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets: 

Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as 
assets in the consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) Interest capitalization: 

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangible 
capital asset. 

(v) Labour capitalization: 

Internal labour directly attributable to the construction, development or implementation of 
a tangible capital asset is capitalized. 

(vi) Leased tangible capital assets: 

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 
property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are 
accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as 
incurred. 

(vii) Impairment of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer 
contribute to the City’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future 
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net 
book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(viii) Inventory of materials and supplies: 

Inventory is recorded at cost, net of an allowance for obsolete stock. Cost is determined 
on a weighted average basis. 

(k) Revenue recognition: 

(i) Property taxes, penalties and interest: 

The Community Charter provides the City with the ability to impose and enforce 
collection of property taxes and levies, and to introduce penalties and interest. Property 
taxes are calculated based on the British Columbia Assessment Authority’s (BCAA) 
assessment value and annually approved tax rates by Council. Tax revenues are 
recognized when they meet the definition of an asset, have been authorized, and the 
taxable event occurs. Annual property tax levies and payments-in-lieu of taxes are 
recorded as taxes for municipal services in the year which they are levied. The BCAA’s 
appeal process may affect current year property assessments by supplementary roll 
adjustments. Adjustments on taxes are recognized in the year when the appeals are 
settled.  

(ii) Licence and development fees: 

Revenue from building and development permits and rezoning fees received in advance 
of services are provided, is initially deferred and recognized as the performance 
obligations are fulfilled. The nature of the permit determines the number and type of 
performance obligation and when the revenue is recognized. 

(a) Single performance obligation: 

When a permit includes a single performance obligation, revenue is recognized at 
the time the performance obligation is fulfilled, being either issuance or completion 
of the permit. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Revenue recognition (continued): 

(ii) Licence and development fees (continued): 

(b) Multiple performance obligations: 

For permits with multiple performance obligations, the first performance obligation is 
the issuance of the permit, subsequent performance obligations include activities 
such as inspections or compliance related tasks. Revenue is recognized as each 
performance obligation is fulfilled. When multiple performance obligations exist, 
revenue is allocated between the performance obligations based on the estimated 
cost to satisfy each performance obligation. 

(iii) Cost recoveries: 

Fees from sewer and water connection permits are initially deferred and subsequently 
recognized as revenue when the installation of the connection is completed. 

(iv) Donations: 

Donations for specified purposes are recognized when the related expenditures are 
incurred. Unrestricted donations are recognized when the donation is received. 

(v) Restricted non-government grants: 

Grants from non-government sources with externally imposed restrictions are 
recognized as revenue when spent in accordance with the funder’s specified purpose or 
when the restriction is fulfilled. 

(vi) Development cost charges (DCC’s): 

The City collects development cost charges in accordance with Council-approved 
bylaws to finance growth-related projects including parks and engineering infrastructure, 
which includes roads, drainage, sewer and water. DCC’s must be spent on projects 
within defined area boundaries and are recognized as revenue as Council approved 
expenditures are incurred. 

(vii) Prepaid leases: 

The City has land leases with terms ranging from 3 to 99 years, some of which have 
been prepaid. These amounts are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 

(viii) Capital contributions, government transfers: 

Contributions are recognized as revenue as the related expenditures are incurred. 
Restricted transfers from governments are initially deferred and subsequently 
recognized as revenue as the related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the 
related agreement are met. Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when  
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Revenue recognition (continued): 

(viii) Capital contributions, government transfers (continued): 

received or if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
reasonably assured. 

(ix) All other revenues: 

Unilateral transactions are recognized as revenue when the City has the authority to 
retain the inflow of economic resources and identifies a past transaction or event giving 
rise to an asset. Exchange transactions are recognized as revenue when the City’s 
performance obligation, which is usually to provide goods and/or services, is fulfilled. 

(l) Taxes: 

The City establishes property tax rates based on assessed market values provided by the 
British Columbia Assessment Authority. Market values are determined as of July 1st of each 
year. The City records taxation revenue at the time the property tax bills are issued. The City 
is entitled to collect interest and penalties on overdue taxes. 

The City is required to act as the agent for the collection of certain taxes and fees imposed by 
other authorities. Collections for other authorities are excluded from the City’s taxation 
revenue. 

Payments in Lieu of Taxes (“PILT”) for federal properties are calculated on the basis of 
values and rates which would apply if these properties were taxable. The annual tax rates 
together with the assessed value on the Grant Roll are used to calculate the PILT levy. The 
PILT revenue is recorded when the payment is received. 

(m) Deferred revenue: 

The City defers a portion of the revenue collected from permits, licences and other fees and 
recognizes this revenue in the year in which related performance obligations are met, other 
related expenses are incurred or services are provided. 

Deferred revenue also represents funds received from external parties for specified 
purposes. This revenue is recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred. 

(n) Deposits: 

Receipts restricted by the legislation of senior governments or by agreement with external 
parties are deferred and reported as deposits and are refundable under certain 
circumstances. When qualifying expenses are incurred, deposits are recognized as revenue 
at amounts equal to the qualifying expenses. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(o) Debt: 

Debt is recorded net of related sinking fund balances. 

(p) Budget information: 

Budget information, presented on a basis consistent with that used for actual results, was 
included in the City’s Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan (2024-2028) (“Consolidated 
Financial Plan”) and was adopted through Bylaw No. 10515 on January 29, 2024. 

(q) Contaminated sites: 

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water, or 
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material of live organism that exceeds an 
environmental standard. Liabilities are recorded net of any expected recoveries. 

A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive 
use and the following criteria are met: 

(i) An environmental standard exists; 

(ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 

(iii)  The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 

(iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including 
operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy 
for a contaminated site.  

(r) Use of accounting estimates: 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenditures during the reporting period. 
Areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to performing the actuarial valuation 
of employee future benefits, the value of contributed tangible capital assets, the value of 
developer contributions, the value of asset retirement obligations, useful lives for 
amortization, determination of provisions for accrued liabilities, allowance for doubtful 
accounts, and provision for contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the period that 
the change in estimate is made, as well as in the period of settlement if the amount is 
different. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(s) Segment disclosures: 

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for 
which it is appropriate to separately report financial information to achieve the objectives of 
the standard. The City has provided definitions of segments as well as presented financial 
information in segment format. 

(t) Asset retirement obligations: 

An asset retirement obligation is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date, all of the 
following criteria are met: 

• There is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset; 

• The past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred; 

• It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

• A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The City’s asset retirement obligations includes the removal for asbestos and lead in 
buildings, removal of fuel tanks owned by the City and end-of-life decommissioning costs for 
certain leases. 

Measurement of the asset retirement obligation is recorded at the best estimate of the 
expenditures required to retire a tangible capital asset. Where available, assessment reports 
are used with experience and expert advice to determine the liability. The resulting costs are 
capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the related tangible capital asset that are in 
productive use. The cost is amortized over the useful life of the tangible capital asset 
(Note 2 (j)(i)). If the related tangible capital asset is unrecognized or no longer in productive 
use, the asset retirement costs are expensed. 

The carrying value of the liability is reviewed at each financial reporting date and adjusted for 
any revisions to the timing or amount required to settle the obligation. Changes in the liability 
due to the passage of time are recorded as an accretion expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations and all other changes are adjusted to the tangible capital asset.  
Recoveries related to asset retirement obligations are recognized when the recovery can be 
appropriately measured, a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made and it is 
expected that future economic benefits will be obtained. A recovery is recognized on a gross 
basis from the asset retirement obligations liability. 

 

FIN – 75



CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024 
 
 

DRAFT – APRIL 23, 2025 
 14 

3. Adoption of new accounting standards: 

(a) Adoption of PS 3160 Public Private Partnerships Standard: 

On January 1, 2024, the City adopted Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standard PS 3160, 
Public Private Partnerships (“PS 3160”). The new standard addresses the recognition, 
measurement, presentation, and disclosure of infrastructure procured by public sector entities 
through certain types of public private partnership arrangements. This standard was adopted 
on a prospective basis. The adoption of this standard did not have any impact on the 
amounts presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

(b) Adoption of PSG-8, Purchased Intangibles: 

On January 1, 2024, the City adopted Public Sector Guideline PSG-8, Purchased Intangibles 
(“PSG-8”), applied on a prospective basis. PSG-8 defines purchased intangibles as 
identifiable non-monetary economic resources without physical substance acquired through 
an arm’s length exchange transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under 
no compulsion to act. Intangibles acquired through a transfer, contribution, or inter-entity 
transaction, are not purchased intangibles. The adoption of this standard did not have any 
impact on the amounts presented in these consolidated financial statements. 

(c) Adoption of PS 3400 Revenue Standard: 

On January 1, 2024, the City adopted Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standard PS 3400 
Revenue and applied this standard on a prospective basis. The new standard applies to all 
revenues, except for taxation revenues, government transfers, income from investments in 
GBE and other revenues which are covered in other Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

The standard was adopted prospectively from the date of adoption. As a result, the City’s 
licences and permits revenue increased by $1,812,934, with a corresponding decrease in 
deferred revenue. In addition, the City’s other revenues increased by $492,557, with a 
corresponding decrease in deferred revenue. 
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4. Investments: 
 

   2024   2023  
   Market  Market 
  Cost value Cost value 
 
Short-term notes and deposits $ 489,091 $ 489,091 $ 443,418 $ 443,418 
Government and government  

guaranteed bonds 755,104 759,769 599,013   595,015 
Bank bonds 333,646 342,568 325,486   328,578 
Municipal Finance Authority  

bonds 12,469 12,758 12,466   12,722 
 
  $ 1,590,310 $ 1,604,186 $ 1,380,383 $ 1,379,733 
 

5. Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd.: 

The City owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of LIEC, which was incorporated 
under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on August 19, 2013. LIEC develops, 
manages and operates district energy utilities in the city of Richmond, on the City’s behalf, 
including but not limited to energy production, generation or exchange, transmission, distribution, 
maintenance, marketing and sales to customers, customer service, profit generation, financial 
management and advisory services for energy and infrastructure. 

Summarized financial information relating to LIEC, prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, is as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments $ 21,305 $ 14,527 
Accounts receivable 4,385 4,793 
Tangible capital assets 58,128 53,741 
 
Total assets 83,818 73,061 
 
Deferred contributions 22,789 19,236 
Project agreement 19,283 14,475 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,291 1,776 
Government grants 514 403 
Post-employment benefits 86 73 
 
Total liabilities 43,963 35,963 
 
Shareholder’s equity $ 39,855 $ 37,098 
 
Total revenue $ 9,760 $ 8,570 
Total expenses 7,003 6,500 
 
Net income $ 2,757 $ 2,070 
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5. Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd. (continued): 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the City’s Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position are payables to LIEC in the amount of $166,301 (2023 - $165,059). 

On September 22, 2022, LIEC entered into a new concession project agreement (the “Project 
Agreement”) with City Centre Energy Limited Partnership (“Project Contractor”) to design, build, 
finance, operate and maintain City Centre District Energy Utility infrastructure providing heating 
and cooling services to new residential and mixed use commercial developments within the City 
Centre area (the “CCDEU project”). The Project Contractor was a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Corix Utilites Inc. (“Corix”). During 2024, following a re-organization within Corix, the Project 
Contractor become a wholly owned subsidiary of Corix District Energy Holdings GP Inc. 

 

6. Accounts receivable: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Water and sewer utilities $ 17,903 $ 15,429 
Casino revenue 2,918 2,940 
Grants 12,728 8,416 
Other trade receivables 12,338 8,282 
 
  $ 45,887 $ 35,067 
 

7. Debt reserve fund deposits and contingent demand notes: 

The City issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority (the “MFA”). As a 
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debt proceeds is withheld by the MFA in a Debt 
Reserve Fund. The City also executes demand notes in connection with each debt whereby the 
City may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA. These demand notes are contingent in 
nature and are not reflected in the City’s accounts. The details of the cash deposits and 
contingent demand notes at December 31, 2024 are as follows: 
 
   Cash Contingent 
   deposits  demand notes 
 
General Revenue Fund   $ 960 $ 2,701 
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8. Asset retirement obligations: 

The City's asset retirement obligation consists of the following obligations: 

(a) Asbestos and Lead Obligation: Once disturbed, the City has a legal obligation to properly 
remove and dispose of asbestos and lead. As such, asset retirement obligations have been 
recognized for various City buildings that are known and/or suspected of containing asbestos 
and lead. 

(b) Fuel Tank Obligation: The City has a legal obligation to adhere to particular practices when 
removing aboveground storage tanks and underground storage tanks. Asset retirement 
obligations have been recognized for all known land or buildings where an aboveground 
storage tank and underground storage tank is known to exist. 

(c) Contractual Obligation: The City is party to various contracts and agreements with entities 
that dictate various end-of life decommissioning activities associated with properties the City 
is leasing. Asset retirement obligations have been recognized for the estimated cost of 
adhering to these contracts. 

The City has recognized liabilities related to the legal obligations to incur costs to retire a tangible 
capital asset. A significant part of City’s asset retirement obligations results from the removal and 
disposal of designated materials from buildings and fuel tanks. The City estimates that the 
majority of the obligations will be paid during fiscal years 2048 to 2073. 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Asset retirement obligation, opening balance $ 11,893 $ - 
Asset retirement obligation recorded during the year 103 7,081 
Accretion expense during the year 195 290 
Asset retirement obligation expenditure incurred during the year (1,059) 4,522 
Asset retirement obligation settled during the year (12) - 
 
Asset retirement obligation, closing balance $ 11,120 $ 11,893 
 
When significant obligations have reliable cash flow projections, the liability may be estimated 
using the present value of future cash flows, otherwise they are recorded at current costs. The 
discount rate used reflects the risks specific to the asset retirement liability. The discount rate 
used for 2024 is 4.30% (2023 – 4.10%). There are no liabilities recorded using the present value 
of future cash flows at December 31, 2024 (2023 – nil). 
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9. Post-employment benefits: 

The City provides certain post-employment benefits, non-vested sick leave, compensated 
absences, and termination benefits to its employees. 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 34,813  $ 33,637 
Opening adjustment due to Oval 

actuarial valuation January 1, 2023 - 207 
Current service cost 2,514 2,434 
Interest cost 1,463 1,528 
Past service cost / (credit) 411 (440) 
Benefits paid  (4,056) (3,840) 
Actuarial loss 2 1,287 
 
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 35,147 $ 34,813  
 
An actuarial valuation for these benefits was performed to determine the City’s accrued benefit 
obligation as at December 31, 2024. This actuarial gain is being amortized over a period equal to 
the employees' expected average remaining service lifetime of 11-years (2023 – 11-years). 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 35,147  $ 34,813 
Unamortized net actuarial gain  2,250 3,068 
 
Accrued benefit liability, end of year $ 37,397 $ 37,881 
 
Actuarial assumptions used to determine the City’s accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 
 
    2024 2023 
 
Discount rate 4.30% 4.10% 
Expected future inflation rate 2.50% 2.50% 
Expected wage and salary range increases 2.50% to 3.00% 2.50% to 3.00% 
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10. Development cost charges: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 241,634 $ 237,051 
Contributions 44,832 4,342 
Interest 9,996 10,533 
Revenue recognized (70,450) (10,292) 
 
Balance, end of year $ 226,012 $ 241,634  
 

11. Deposits and holdbacks: 
 
  Balance Deposit  Balance 
  December 31, contributions / Refund/ December 31, 
  2023 interest earned expenditures 2024 
 
Security deposits $ 125,713 $ 24,411 $ (11,289) $ 138,835 
Developer contributions 7,919  172 - 8,091 
Damage deposits  6,658   827 (958) 6,527 
Contract holdbacks  4,767  3,823 (3,882) 4,708 
Other  3,681  432 (452) 3,661 
 
  $ 148,738 $ 29,665 $ (16,581) $ 161,822 
 

12. Deferred revenue: 
 
  Balance Externally  Balance 
  December 31, restricted Revenue December 31, 
  2023 inflows earned 2024 
 
Taxes and utilities $ 30,008 $ 33,197 $ (30,008) $ 33,197 
Building permits/development 15,082 10,608 (8,368) 17,322 
Oval 2,813 8,862 (8,782) 2,893 
Grants 16,609 20,890 (17,578) 19,921 
Licences 2,613 2,294 (4,064) 843 
Parking easement/leased land  2,480 109 (54) 2,535 
Other 5,752 5,353 (7,230) 3,875 
 
  $ 75,357 $ 81,313 $  (76,084) $ 80,586 
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13. Debt, net of MFA sinking fund deposits: 

The City obtains debt instruments through the MFA pursuant to security issuing bylaws under 
authority of the Community Charter to finance certain capital expenditures. 

Gross amount for the debt less principal payments and actuarial adjustments to date are as 
follows: 
 
  Loan Gross Repayments 
MFA authorization amount and actuarial Net debt  Net debt 
issue bylaw borrowed adjustments 2024 2023 
 
127 9075 $ 50,815 $ 50,815 $ - $ 6,024 
158 10334 96,000  6,908 89,092   92,605 
 
  $ 146,815 $ 57,723 $ 89,092 $ 98,629 
 
Current borrowing includes: 
 
MFA   Term  Interest  Refinancing 
issue Issue date (yrs.) Maturity date rate date 
 
158 September 23, 2022 20 September 23, 2042 4.09% September 23, 2032 
 
 
Interest expense incurred for the year on the long-term debt was $4,764,848 (2023 - $5,594,469). 
Repayments on net outstanding debt over the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 
 
2025  $ 3,636 
2026  3,764 
2027   3,895 
2028   4,032 
2029   4,173 
Thereafter   69,592 
 
    $ 89,092 
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14. Tangible capital assets: 
 
  Balance Additions  Balance 
  December 31, and  December 31, 
Cost 2023 transfers Disposals 2024 
 
Land $ 1,191,847 $ 93,570 $ (107) $ 1,285,310 
Building and building 

improvements 621,743 31,274 (1,048) 651,969 
Infrastructure 2,002,755 38,547 (6,728) 2,034,574 
Vehicles, machinery and  

equipment 184,620 12,082 (577) 196,125 
Library’s collections,  

furniture and equipment 11,969 1,137 (322) 12,784 
Assets under construction 65,736 41,937  - 107,673 
 
  $ 4,078,670 $ 218,547 $ (8,782) $ 4,288,435 
 
 
  Balance   Balance 
  December 31,  Amortization December 31, 
Accumulated amortization 2023 Disposals expense 2024 
 
Building and building  

improvements $ 265,314 $ (1,023) $ 22,621 $ 286,912 
Infrastructure 984,920 (6,131) 37,392 1,016,181 
Vehicles, machinery and  

equipment 125,139 (487) 10,689 135,341 
Library’s collections,  

furniture and equipment 8,395 (322) 1,001 9,074 
 
  $ 1,383,768 $ (7,963) $ 71,703  $     1,447,508 
 
  December 31, December 31, 
Net book value 2024 2023 
 
Land $ 1,285,310 $ 1,191,847 
Buildings and building improvements 365,057 356,429 
Infrastructure 1,018,393 1,017,835 
Vehicles, machinery and equipment 60,784 59,481 
Library’s collection, furniture and equipment 3,710 3,574 
Assets under construction  107,673 65,736 
 
Balance, end of year $ 2,840,927 $ 2,694,902 
 
(a) Assets under construction: 

Assets under construction having a value of $107,673,230 (2023 - $65,735,570) have not 
been amortized. Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into 
service. 
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14. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

(b) Contributed tangible capital assets: 

Contributed tangible capital assets have been recognized at fair value at the date of 
contribution. The value of contributed assets received during the year is $31,065,021 (2023 - 
$75,944,770) comprised of land in the amount of $23,144,146 (2023 - $58,306,673), and 
infrastructure in the amount of $7,920,875 (2023 - $17,638,097).  

(c) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values: 

Where an estimate of fair value could not be made, the tangible capital asset was recognized 
at a nominal value.  

(d) Works of art and historical treasures: 

The City manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historical cultural 
assets including building, artifacts, paintings, and sculptures located at City sites and public 
display areas. The assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not amortized.  

(e) Write-down of tangible capital assets: 

There were no write-down of tangible capital assets in 2024 (2023 - nil). 
 

15. Accumulated surplus: 
 
  General Waterworks Sewerworks Richmond 

  and Reserve Utility Utility Olympic  2024 2023 
  Funds Fund Fund Oval Library Total Total 

 
Investment in tangible  

capital assets $ 2,814,071   $ - $ - $ 8,297 $ 3,711 $ 2,826,079 $ 2,687,860 
Reserves (note 16) 792,544   51,864   35,195    13,133    - 892,736  789,710 
Appropriated surplus 237,862  18,847   12,556    590   3,199   273,054   285,974 
Investment in LIEC 39,855   - - - - 39,855  37,098 
Surplus 18,344   1,068   6,661   606   536   27,215  24,930 
Other equity 5,608   - - - - 5,608  5,960 
 
Balance, end of year $ 3,908,284  $ 71,779 $ 54,412 $ 22,626 $ 7,446 $ 4,064,547  $ 3,831,532 
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16. Reserves: 
 
  Balance,   Balance, 
  December 31, Change December 31, 
  2023 during year 2024 
 
Affordable housing $ 16,924 $ (76) $ 16,848 
Arts, culture and heritage  4,126 184  4,310 
Capital building and infrastructure  145,902 20,509  166,411 
Capital reserve  287,961 49,586  337,547 
Capstan station  15,009 6,459  21,468 
Child care development  10,866 1,907  12,773 
Community legacy and land replacement  1,671 129  1,800 
Flood protection BL 7812 and BL 10403  65,719 5,458 71,177 
Equipment replacement  29,894 1,496  31,390 
Growing communities fund   21,067 461  21,528 
Hamilton area plan community amenity  3,767 168  3,935 
Leisure facilities  29,059 6,096  35,155 
Local improvements  8,109 361  8,470 
Neighborhood improvement  9,153 678  9,831 
Oval  11,586 1,547  13,133 
Public art program  4,987 315  5,302 
Sanitary sewer BL 7812 and BL 10401  58,139 4,977 63,116 
Solid waste  - 256  256 
Steveston off-street parking  354 5  359 
Steveston road ends  143 (31) 112 
Waterfront improvement  187 8  195 
Water supply BL 7812 and BL 10402  65,087  2,533  67,620 
 
  $ 789,710 $ 103,026 $ 892,736 
 

17. Pension plan: 

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension 
plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for 
administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is 
a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As 
at December 31, 2023, the plan has about 256,000 active members and approximately 129,000 
retired members. Active members include approximately 45,000 contributors from local 
governments.  

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan 
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and 
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on 
the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer 
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may  
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17. Pension plan (continued): 

be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the 
amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.  

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated a 
$3,761 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in later 2025. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, 
resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 
individual employers participating in the plan. 

The City paid $17,270,093 (2023 - $15,534,932) for employer contributions while employees 
contributed $15,099,053 (2023 - $13,023,437) to the plan in fiscal 2024. 

 

18. Contingent assets and contractual rights: 

(a) Contingent assets: 

Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving 
uncertainty. That uncertainty will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events not 
wholly within the City’s control occurs or fails to occur. 

The City has legal claims, service agreements, and land dedications that may qualify as 
contingent assets. Amounts cannot be estimated as of December 31, 2024. Contingent 
assets are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 

(b) Contractual rights: 

The City has entered into contracts or agreements in the normal course of operations that it 
expects will result in revenue and assets in future fiscal years. The City’s contractual rights 
are comprised of leases, licences, grants and various other agreements, including the 
provision of police services with the Vancouver Airport Authority. The following table 
summarizes the expected revenue from the City’s contractual rights: 
 
 
2025  $ 39,375 
2026  8,492 
2027  5,697 
2028  3,607 
2029  2,704 
Thereafter  5,534 
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18. Contingent assets and contractual rights (continued): 

(b) Contractual rights (continued): 

The City is entitled to receive revenue from certain other agreements. The revenue from 
these agreements cannot be quantified and has not been included in the amounts noted 
above. 

 

19. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Joint and several liabilities: 

The City has a contingent liability with respect to debentures of the Greater Vancouver Water 
District, Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District and Metro Vancouver Regional 
District, to the extent provided for in their respective Enabling Acts, Acts of Incorporation and 
Amending Acts. Management does not consider payment under this contingency to be likely 
and therefore no amounts have been accrued. 

(b) Lease payments: 

The City is committed to operating lease payments for premises and equipment in the 
following approximate amounts: 
 
 
2025  $ 4,547 
2026  2,870 
2027  954 
2028   583 
2029 and thereafter  4,513 
 
 

(c) Litigation: 

As at December 31, 2024, there were a number of claims or risk exposures in various stages 
of resolution. The City has made no specific provision for those where the outcome is 
presently not determinable. 

(d) Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia (“Association”): 

The City is a participant in the Association. Should the Association pay out claims in excess 
of premiums received, it is possible that the City, along with other participants, would be 
required to contribute towards the deficit. Management does not consider external payment 
under this contingency to be likely and therefore, no amounts have been accrued. 

(e) Contractual obligation: 

The City has entered into various contracts for services and construction with periods ranging 
beyond one year. These commitments are in accordance with budgets passed by Council.  
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19. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(f) E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Incorporated           
(“E- Comm”): 

The City is a shareholder of the E-Comm whose services provided include: regional 9-1-1 call 
centre for the Greater Vancouver Regional District; Wide Area Radio network; dispatch 
operations; and records management. The City has 2 Class A shares and 1 Class B share (of 
a total of 37 Class A and 18 Class B shares issued and outstanding as at December 31, 
2024). As a Class A shareholder, the City shares in both funding the future operations and 
capital obligations of E-Comm (in accordance with a cost sharing formula), including any 
lease obligations committed to by E-Comm up to the shareholder’s withdrawal date. 

(g) Community associations: 

The City has agreements with the various community associations which operate the 
community centers throughout the City. The City generally provides the buildings and 
grounds, pays the operating costs of the facilities, and provides certain staff and other 
services such as information technology. Typically the community associations are 
responsible for providing programming and services to the community. The community 
associations retain all revenue which they receive.  

 

20. Trust funds: 

Certain assets have been conveyed or assigned to the City to be administered as directed by 
agreement or statute. The City holds the assets for the benefit of and stands in fiduciary 
relationship to the beneficiary. The following trust fund is excluded from the City’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Richmond Community Associations $ - $ 724 
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21. Taxation and levies: 
 
 2024  2023 
 
Taxes collected: 

Property taxes $ 621,165 $ 572,078 
Payment-in-lieu of taxes and grants 35,264 31,496 
Local improvement levies 74 76 
Municipal and Regional District Tax (MRDT) 9,315 9,073 
  665,818 612,723 

 
Less transfers to other authorities: 

Province of British Columbia - School taxes (247,616) (230,746) 
TransLink (60,588) (48,562) 
Metro Vancouver (11,701) (10,197) 
BC Assessment Authority (7,724) (7,270) 
Other (42) (41) 
  (327,671) (296,816) 

 
Less payment-in-lieu of taxes retained by the City  (20,054) (18,114) 
 
  $ 318,093 $ 297,793  
 

22. Other revenue: 
 
 2024 2023 
 
Developer contributions $ 15,967 $ 3,102 
Tangible capital assets gain on sale of land 3,008 2,497 
Penalties and fines 5,958 5,080 
Parking program                                                                                         2,930 2,335 
Recycle BC 3,326 3,274 
Oval - Other revenue 2,712 2,987 
Other 5,991 4,034 
 
  $ 39,892 $ 23,309 
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23. Government transfers: 

Government transfers are received for operating and capital activities. The operating transfers 
consist of gaming revenue and provincial and federal contributions. Capital transfers are included 
in other capital funding sources revenue. The source of the government transfers are as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 
 
Operating: 

Government of British Columbia $ 16,650 $ 23,943 
Government of Canada 8,468 7,355 

 
Capital: 

Government of British Columbia  7,099 26,123 
Government of Canada  1,405 1,566 

 
  $ 33,622 $ 58,987 
 

24. Segmented reporting: 

The City provides a wide variety of services to its residents. For segment disclosure, these 
services are grouped and reported under service areas/departments that are responsible for 
providing such services. They are as follows: 

(a) Law and community safety brings together the City's public safety providers such as police 
(RCMP), fire-rescue, emergency programs, and community bylaws along with sections 
responsible for legal and regulatory matters. It is responsible for ensuring safe communities 
by providing protection services with a focus on law enforcement, crime prevention, 
emergency response, protection of life and properties and legal services. 

(b) Utilities provide such services as planning, designing, constructing, operating, and 
maintaining the City’s infrastructure of water and sewer networks, flood protection and 
sanitation and recycling.  

(c) Engineering, transportation, public works and project development comprises of 
general public works, roads and construction, fleet operations, engineering, transportation, 
project development, and facility management. The services provided are construction and 
maintenance of the City's infrastructure and City owned buildings, maintenance of the City’s 
road networks, managing and operating a mixed fleet of vehicles, heavy equipment and an 
assortment of specialized work units for the City operations, development of current and long-
range engineering planning and construction of major projects. 

(d) Parks, recreation and culture comprises of parks, recreation, arts, and culture and heritage 
services. These departments ensure recreation opportunities in Richmond by maintaining a 
variety of facilities such as arenas, community centres, pools, etc. It designs, constructs and 
maintains parks and sports fields to ensure there is adequate open green space and sports 
fields available for Richmond residents. It also addresses the arts, culture, and community 
issues that the City encounters.  
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24. Segmented reporting (continued): 

(e) General government comprises of Mayor and Council, corporate administration, finance and 
corporate services. It is responsible for adopting bylaws, effectively administering city 
operations, levying taxes, providing sound management of human resources, information 
technology, finance, and ensuring high quality services to Richmond residents. 

(f) Planning and development is responsible for land use plans, developing bylaws and 
policies for sustainable development in the City.  

(g) Richmond Olympic Oval Corporation is formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of the City. 
The City uses the Richmond Olympic Oval facility as a venue for a wide range of sports, 
business and community activities.  

(h) Richmond Public Library provides public access to information by maintaining five 
branches throughout the City. 

 
    Engineering, 
    transportation, 

 Law and   public works Parks,  Planning Total 
  community  and project recreation General and city 
  safety Utilities development and culture government development subtotal 
 
Revenue: 

Taxation and levies  $ - $ - $ - $ 400 $ 317,693 $ - $ $318,093 
User fees - 150,823  -  -  -   -  150,823 
Sales of services 9,322 5,021 2,933 13,611 13,497  1,320   45,704 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes -  -  -  - 20,054   -  20,054 
Provincial and federal grants 1,305 15 (849) 281 3,317  5,892    9,961 
Development cost charges - 720 9,691 31,119 28,920   -  70,450 
Other capital funding sources - 4,756 10,951 162 23,323  548   39,740 
Other revenue: 

Investment income - 366  -  - 69,457   -  69,823 
Gaming revenue 914  -  -  - 11,057   -  11,971 
Licences and permits 7,608 32 542 - 17  11,657  19,856 
Other 3,371 4,687 1,457 743 26,822  27   37,107 
Equity income in LIEC -  -  -  - 2,757   -  2,757 

  22,520 166,420 24,725 46,316 516,914 19,444 796,339 
 

Expenses: 
Wages and salaries 66,833 24,171 30,703 45,324 32,590  15,097  214,718 
Public works maintenance  70 10,211 5,252 2,321 (1,447)  -    16,407 
Contract services 78,483 11,123 6,975 3,807 13,184  1,086  114,658 
Regional district utility charges - 66,161 - - - - 66,161 
Supplies and materials 4,058 10,839 1,372 12,493 14,273  8,674  51,709 
Interest and finance 588 2 4 176 5,910  -    6,680 
Transfer from (to) capital for  

tangible capital assets (498) 4,469 1,514 2,700 443  505  9,133 
Amortization of tangible capital 

assets 3,212 17,033 25,630 11,338 9,620  2,063  68,896 
Loss (gain) on disposal of  

tangible capital assets - 638 (128) 14 (9)  2  517 
  152,746 144,647 71,322 78,173 74,564 27,427 548,879 

 

Annual surplus (deficit) $ (130,226) $ 21,773 $ (46,597)  $ (31,857) $ 442,350 $ (7,983) $ 247,460 
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24. Segmented reporting (continued):  
 
  Total Richmond Richmond 
  city Public Olympic 2024 2023 
  subtotal Library Oval Consolidated Consolidated 
 
Revenue: 

Taxation and levies $ 318,093 $ - $ - $ 318,093 $ 297,793 
User fees 150,823  -  - 150,823 132,951 
Sales of services 45,704 81 11,665 57,450 50,737 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 20,054  -  - 20,054 18,114 
Provincial and federal grants 9,961 435 3,149 13,545 38,660 
Development cost charges 70,450  -  - 70,450 10,292 
Other capital funding sources 39,740  -  - 39,740 83,562 
Other revenue: 

Investment income 69,823 30  - 69,853 61,503 
Gaming revenue 11,971  -  - 11,971 13,013 
Licences and permits 19,856  -  - 19,856 15,934 
Other 37,107 73 2,712 39,892 23,309 
Equity income in LIEC 2,757  -  - 2,757 2,070 

  796,339 619 17,526   814,484 747,938 
 

Expenses: 
Wages and salaries 214,718 8,800 12,727  236,245 211,637 
Public works maintenance  16,407 37  -  16,444 16,087 
Contract services 114,658 547  -  115,205 109,548 
Regional district utility charges 66,161 - - 66,161 60,743 
Supplies and materials 51,709 2,125 5,818   59,652 53,164 
Interest and finance 6,680 1  -  6,681  8,246 
Transfer from (to) capital for tangible capital assets 9,133 (256)  -  8,877 13,848 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 68,896 1,001 1,806  71,703 71,938 
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 517 (16)  -  501 364 
  548,879 12,239 20,351   581,469 545,575 

 
Annual surplus (deficit) $ 247,460 $ (11,620) $ (2,825) $ 233,015 $ 202,363 

 

25. Budget data: 

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based on the 
Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan adopted by Council on January 29, 2024. The table below 
reconciles the adopted Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan to the budget amounts reported in 
these consolidated financial statements. 
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25. Budget data (continued): 
 
  Financial Financial 
  plan statement 
  Bylaw No. 10515 budget 
 
Revenue from Consolidated financial plan $ 702,207 $ 702,207 
 
Expenses from Consolidated financial plan 620,634 620,634 
    
Annual surplus   81,573  81,573 
 
Less: 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets – current year (211,510) - 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets – prior years (231,528) - 
Contributed tangible capital assets (45,640) - 
Transfer to reserves (97,079) - 
Debt principal (9,612) - 

 
Add:  

Capital funding 492,725 - 
Operating reserve funding 7,934 - 
Transfer from surplus 13,137 - 
    

Annual surplus $ - $ 81,573 
 

26. Financial risk management:  

Financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investments, receivables, payables, 
and debt. The City has exposure to the following financial risks from its use of financial 
instruments: credit risk, market risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Management is 
responsible for safeguarding resources, managing risks, and implementing appropriate policies 
and framework. This note presents information on how the City manages those financial risks. 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of economic loss should the counterparty to a transaction default or 
otherwise fail to meet its obligation. The City is exposed to credit risk primarily through its 
cash and cash equivalents, investments and accounts receivables. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk on these instruments is their carrying value. 

Credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalent is minimized by ensuring that these 
assets are held at financial institutions with a high credit ratings. The City has deposited cash 
with reputable financial institutions, from which management believes the risk of loss to be 
remote.  

The City mitigates credit risk in its investments by adhering to its restrictive investment Policy 
3703 which limits the type and distribution of investments. 
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26. Financial risk management (continued):  

(a) Credit risk (continued): 

Accounts receivables mainly consist of property taxes, utilities, trade and other receivables. 
The Community Charter grants legislative authority for the City to enforce the collection of 
unpaid property taxes. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no significant 
collection issues related to outstanding receivable accounts. The City assesses, on a 
continuous basis, accounts receivables and provides for any amounts that are not collectible. 

(b) Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, as a result of changes in foreign 
exchange rates or interest rate will affect the City’s value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters while optimizing return on investments.  

(i) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that changes in interest rates will affect the fair value 
or future cash flows of financial instruments held by the City. There is no interest rate risk 
regarding the City’s short terms notes and deposits, government guaranteed bonds, bank 
guaranteed bonds and Municipal Finance Authority bonds.  

The City exposed to interest rate risk related to its debt issued by the Municipal Finance 
Authority which is subject to fixed interest rate. Fluctuations in rates could impact future 
payments upon renewal.  

(ii) Currency risk: 

Investments in foreign securities would be exposed to currency risk due to fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates. The City does not hold investments in foreign currencies. 

(iii) General risk: 

Tariffs, other potential changes to tariff and import/export regulations, and ongoing trade 
disputes between the United States and other jurisdictions may have a negative effect on 
global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets.  

These tariffs are relatively recent and are subject to a number of uncertainties as they are 
implemented, and the impact cannot be predicted at this time. 

(c) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk arises when the City is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The City manages liquidity risk by monitoring actual and forecasted cash flows from 
operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to ensure, as far out as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under 
both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the City’s reputation.  

With the exception of note 26(b)(iii), there has been no significant change to the risk exposure 
from 2023. 
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27.  Comparative information:  

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the consolidated financial 
statement presentation adopted for the current year. These reclassifications do not impact the 
annual surplus reported in the prior year or accumulated surplus. 
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In 2023, the Provincial Government announced funding of up to $1 billion in direct grants provided to 
local governments to help support all B.C. communities. The objective of this funding is to help local 
government to invest into infrastructure and amenities that will help facilitate the increase in housing 
supply throughout the community. In 2023, the City received a Growing Communities Grant of $20.3 
million. A requirement of the Growing Communities Fund is to include a schedule to the financial 
statements presenting the amount of funding received, use of funds, and year-end balance of unused 
funds. A schedule will continue to be reported annually until funds are fully drawn down. 
 
 2024 2023 
 
Growing Communities Fund opening balance $ 21,067 $ - 
Growing Communities Fund received    20,354 
Total eligible costs incurred  (7) - 
Interest earned 468 713 
 
Balance, end of year $ 21,528 $ 21,067 
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In 2023, the Provincial Government announced funding of $51 million in grant-based funding to help 
facilitate implementation and support local governments’ implement of the legislative changes to 
support housing initiatives, including small-scale multi-unit housing and proactive planning, 
development finance, and transit-oriented development. 

In 2024, the City received the Local Government Housing Initiatives Capacity Fund of $1.1 million. A 
requirement of the Local Government Housing Initiatives Capacity Fund is to include a schedule to 
the financial statements. A schedule will continue to be reported annually until funds are fully drawn 
down. 
 
  2024 
 
Local Government Housing Initiatives Capacity Fund received   $ 1,146 
Total eligible costs incurred   (192) 
 
Balance December 31, 2024   $ 954 
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To: 

From: 

City of 
Richmond 

Finance Committee 

Jerry Chong 
General Manager, Finance and Corporate 
Services 

Report to Committee 

Date: April 15, 2025 

File: 03-0905-01/2025-Vol 
01 

Re: 2024 Financial Statements for the Richmond Public Library 

Staff Recommendation 

That the 2024 Richmond Public Library audited financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, as presented in the attached report from the Chief Librarian, be received for 
information. 

Jerry Chong 
General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
(604-276-4064) 

REPORT CONCURRENCE 

APPROVED BY CAO 

8027857 
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TO: 

FROM: 

DATE: 

City of Richmond Finance Committee 

Susan Walters, Chief Librarian 

March 6, 2025 

Recommendation 

REPORT TO CITY OF RICHMOND 
FINANCE COMMITEE 

That the 2024 Financial Statements of the Richmond Public Library Board be received for information. 

Susan Walters 
Chief Librarian & Secretary to the Board 
Richmond Public Library 

Attachment: 
Financial Statements of Richmond Public Library Board Year Ended December 31, 2024 
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2024 Financial Statements March 2025 Page 2 

Origin 
The Library Act, Part 2, Section 11(2) states : "The library board must provide to the municipality annual 
financial statements that have been audited in the same manner and at the same time as the financial 
statements of the municipality." 

This report presents the 2024 financial statements of the Richmond Public Library Board. 

Analysis 
Please see the attached Financial Statements of the Richmond Public Library Board for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. The library's financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

KPMG conducted the audit in person and did not identify any control deficiencies that they consider to 
be significant deficiencies in internal control for financial reporting. 

The library's Finance Committee reviewed the statements on March 14, 2025, and the Library Board 
approved them at their regular meeting on Wednesday, March 26, 2025. 

Statement of Financial Position 

2024 Actual 2023 Actual Change 

Financial Assets $4,619,581 $4,997,525 $(337,944) 

Liabilities 1,924,723 1,731,880 192,843 

Net Financial Assets 2,694,858 3,265,645 (570,787) 

Non-Financial Assets 4,751,408 4,718,507 32,900 

Accumulated Surplus $7,446,266 $7,984,152 $(537,886) 

The library's overall financial position decreased by $537,886, with accumulated surplus totaling $7.4 
million. The decrease in financial assets is mainly due to a decrease in the amount due from the City of 
Richmond as a result of higher expenditures in library operations. The increase in liabilities is primarily 
due to an increase in accrued liabilities. Donations are recognized in the year in which the related 
expenses are incurred. The increase in non-financial assets is mainly due to an increase in prepaid 
expenses, which consists of e-book subscriptions with durations longer than one year, and other 
expenses paid in advance. 

The accumulated surplus balance of $7.4 million consists of tangible capital assets of $3.7 million, 
appropriated surplus of $3.2 million and surplus of $535,862. Note that in 2024, the library received an 
additional $36,969 of Enhancement Grants from the Province of BC, and this was recognized as revenue 
in 2024 and transferred to appropriated surplus to support library enhancements that will continue to 
take place in 2025. Appropriated surplus also includes provisions for future library enhancement, capital 
expenditures, IT infrastructure, training, budget stabilization, library operations and future salary and 
benefits obligations. This includes provisions for the future Steveston library's collections. 
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2024 Financial Statements 

Statement of Operations 

Revenue 

Expenses 

Annual Surplus (Deficit) 

Budget Variance 

March 2025 

2024 Budget 

$11,758,900 

12,495,800 

$(736,900) 

2024Actual 

$11,941,830 

12,479,716 

$(537,886) 

Revenue of $11.9 million was greater than budgeted revenue by $182,930 mainly due to : 
$36,969 of recognized one-time Enhancement Grants that are not budgeted . 

Page 3 

2023 Actual 

$12,196,250 

11,549,128 

$647,122 

• 
• $23,199 of increased lnterLINK revenue due to an increase in the library's net lending over 

borrowing activity. 

• 
• 

• 

$28,519 of increased revenue related to library's print and photocopier services . 
$52,891 of recognized restricted donations relating to expenses incurred in the year that are not 
budgeted. 
$15,946 of gain on sale of tangible capital assets that are not budgeted . 

Expenses of $12.5 million was lower than budgeted expenses by $16,084 mainly due to: 

• $418,079 lower than budgeted salaries and employee benefits due to vacancies. 
• $18,324 higher than budgeted library subscriptions and databases as the library strengthens its 

digital resources. 

• $296,234 higher than budgeted general and administration expenses mainly due to renovation 
at Brighouse library front entrance, and library's enhanced cybersecurity framework. 

• $27,614 higher than budgeted building, leases and maintenance expenses primarily due to 
higher City's trade costs. 

Vear Over Year Change 
Revenue of $11.9 million decreased by $254,420 million over 2023 mainly due to: 

• $439,850 increase in municipal contribution . 

• $591,844 decrease in recognition of one-time Enhancement Grants. 
• $109,678 decrease in recognition of one-time COVID-19 Relief and Recovery Grant. 

Expenses of $12.5 million increased by $930,588 over 2023 mainly due to : 

• $593,484 increase in salaries and employee benefits resulting from the negotiated 2024-2027 
Collective Agreement. 

• $40,007 increase in supplies and equipment services is mainly due to an increase in professional 
fees for strategic planning and other professional fees. 

• $195,601 increase in general and administration expenses mainly due to renovation at 
Brighouse library front entrance, and general contractual increases. 
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2024 Financial Statements March 2025 Page 4 

Library Board Approval 
The Library Board reviewed the statements and approved them at their meeting on Wednesday, March 
26, 2025 . 

Susan Walters 

Chief Librarian & Secretary to the Board 
Richmond Public Library 
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Financial Statements of 

RICHMOND PUBLIC 
LIBRARY BOARD 

And Independent Auditor's Report thereon 

Year ended December 31, 2024 
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KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1 K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of Trustees of Richmond Public Library Board 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Richmond Public Library Board (the "Library"), which 
comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024 

• the statement of operations for the year then ended 

• the statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects , the 
financial position of the Library as at December 31, 2024, and its results of operations, its changes 
in net financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our auditor's report. 

We are independent of the Library in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affi li;:ited 
with l<PMG lnternallonal Limited , a private English company limited by guarantee. ICPMG Canada provides services to KPMG UP. FIN – 139



Richmond Public Library Board 
Page 2 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Library's ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Library or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Library's financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks , and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Library's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and , based on the audit evidence obtained , whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Library's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Library 
to cease to continue as a going concern . 
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Richmond Public Library Board 
Page 3 

• Evaluate the overall presentation , structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether these financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 
March 26, 2025 
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Docusign Envelope ID: 638A287C-05D2-4118-851 D-EDF6738649DC 

RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

Financial Assets 

Due from City of Richmond (note 4) 

Accounts receivable 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5) 

Post-employment benefits (note 6) 

Deferred revenue (note 7) 

Net financial assets 

Non-Financial Assets 

Tangible capital assets (note 8) 

Prepaid expenses 

Accumulated surplus (note 9) 

Commitments (note 16) 
Economic dependence (note 19) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

Approved on behalf of the Library Board : 

Trustee 
2) 13f9iii23094F4 LlS1gne y: 

~ B4FB 
Trustee 

2024 

$ 4 ,533,770 

85,811 

4,619,581 

1,252,791 

583,700 

88,232 

1,924,723 

2,694,858 

3,711,264 

1,040,144 

4,751,408 

$ 7,446,266 

2023 

$ 4,901 ,991 

95,534 

4,997,525 

1,058,595 

571,100 

102,185 

1,731,880 

3,265,645 

3,719,322 

999 ,185 

4,718,507 

$ 7,984,152 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Statement of Operations 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

Budget 
2024 2024 2023 

(Notes 2(a) 
and 18) 

Revenue: 
Municipal contribution $ 11,285,400 $ 11,285,400 $ 10,845,550 
Grants (note 10) 397,700 434,722 1,137,917 
Fines and miscellaneous (note 11) 57,000 123,350 106,836 
Donations (note 12) 52,891 65,367 
Investment income (note 13) 18,800 29,521 23,155 
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets 15,946 17,425 

11,758,900 11,941,830 12,196,250 

Expenses: 
Salaries and employee benefits 9,174,100 8,756,021 8,162,537 
Amortization 906,000 1,000,787 901,182 
Library subscriptions and 

databases (note 14) 787,500 805,824 808,823 
Supplies and equipment services 511,400 505,119 465,112 
General and administration 463,200 759,434 563,833 
Building, leases and maintenance 495,600 523,214 502,945 
Utilities 158,000 129,317 144,696 

12,495,800 12,479,716 11,549,128 

Annual (deficit) surplus (736,900) (537,886) 647,122 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 7,984,152 7,984,152 7,337,030 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 7,247,252 $ 7,446,266 $ 7,984,152 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

Annual (deficit) surplus 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 
Increase in prepaid expenses 

Change in net financial assets 

Net financial assets, beginning of year 

Net financial assets, end of year 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

Budget 
2024 

(Notes 2(a) 
and 18) 

$ (736,900) 
(1,209,100) 

906,100 

(1,039,900) 

3,265,645 

$ 2,225,745 

3 

$ 

$ 

2024 

(537,886) 
(992,729) 

1,000,787 
(15,946) 
15,946 

(40,959) 

(570,787) 

3,265,645 

2,694,858 

2023 

$ 647,122 
(1,465,131) 

901,182 
(17,425) 

17,425 
(158,666) 

(75,493) 

3,341,138 

$ 3,265,645 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

Cash provided by (used in): 

Operations: 
Annual (deficit) surplus 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization 
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
Due from City of Richmond 
Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Post-employment benefits 
Deferred revenue 

Net change in cash from operating activities 

Capital activities: 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 

Net change in cash from capital activities 

Net change in cash 

Cash, beginning of year 

Cash, end of year 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

4 

$ 

$ 

2024 

(537,886) 

1,000,787 
(15,946) 

368,221 
9,723 

(40,959) 
194,196 

12,600 
(13,953) 

976,783 

15,946 
(992,729) 

(976,783) 

2023 

$ 647,122 

901,182 
(17,425) 

(243,642) 
(30,226) 
(158,666) 
431,005 

37,900 
(119,544) 

1,447,706 

17,425 
(1,465,131) 

(1,447,706) 

$ 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

1. Operations: 

The Richmond Public Library Board (the "Library"), which was established in 1976 pursuant to the 

Library Act of British Columbia (Part 2) as a Municipal Public Library, is responsible for the 

administration of public libraries in the City of Richmond. Funding for the provisions of these 

services is primarily through an annual contribution from the City of Richmond (the "City"). In 

addition, revenue is received from provincial government grants, library fees, donations, and other 

miscellaneous sources. The Library is a registered charity under provisions of the Income Tax Act 
(Canada) and is not a taxable entity. The Library receives accounting services from, and operates 

primarily in facilities provided free of charge by, the City. The Library is controlled by the City. 

2. Significant accounting policies: 

The accounting policies of the Library conform to Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards 

and include the following specific policies: 

(a) Budget data: 

The budget data presented in these financial statements is based on the 2024 budget approved 

by the Board of Trustees (the "Board") on November 29, 2023. Note 18 reconciles the approved 

budget to the budget figures reported in these financial statements. 

(b) Measurement uncertainty: 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant areas requiring the 

use of management estimates relate to the valuation of employee future benefits obligations. 

Actual results could differ from those estimates. These estimates are reviewed periodically and, 

as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in surplus in the year in which they 

become known. 

(c) Revenue recognition: 

Revenues from transactions with performance obligations are recognized when (at a point in 

time) or as (over a period of time), the Library satisfies the performance obligations, which 

occurs when control of the benefits associated with the promised goods or services has passed 

to the payor. 

Revenues from transactions without performance obligations are recognized at realizable value 

when the Library has the right to claim or retain an inflow of economic resources received or 

receivable and there is a past transaction or event that gives rise to the economic resources. 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d) Deferred revenue: 

The Library records the receipt of restricted contributions as deferred revenue and recognizes 
the revenue in the year in which related expenses are incurred. 

( e) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the 
provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not 

intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(f) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are initially recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly 
attributable to acquisition, construction, development, or betterment of the asset. The cost, less 

estimated residual value, of the tangible capital assets, is amortized on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Asset 

Library collections 
Furniture and fixtures 
Equipment 

Rate 

4 - 20 years 
10 - 20 years 
5 - 10 years 

Amortization is charged over the asset's useful life commencing when the asset is available for 
use. 

Tangible capital assets are written down to residual value when conditions indicate they no 
longer contribute to the ability of the City to provide services or when the value of future 

economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value. 

Work-in-progress is not amortized until the asset is available for productive use. 

(g) Donations of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets received as donations are recorded at their fair value at the date of 

receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 

(h) Works of art, and cultural and historical assets: 

Works of art and cultural and historical assets are not recorded as assets in the financial 

statements. 

(i) Functional and object reporting: 

The operations of the Library are comprised of a single function, library operations. As a result, 
the expenses of the Library are presented by object in the statement of operations. 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

U) Employee future benefits: 

The Library and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan (the "Plan"). 

These contributions are expensed as incurred. 

Sick leave and post-employment benefits are available to the Library's employees. The costs 

of these benefits are actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of retirement 

ages and expected future salary and wage increases. The liabilities under these benefits plans 

are accrued based on projected benefits as the employees render services necessary to earn 

the future benefits (note 6). 

(k) Government transfers: 

Restricted transfers from government are deferred and are recognized as revenue in the year 

in which the related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the related agreement are 

met. Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when received or if the amount to be 

received can be reasonably assured. 

(I) Library subscriptions and databases: 

Library subscriptions and databases not owned by the Library or that have useful lives that are 

less than one operating cycle are recorded as an expense when incurred. 

(m) Financial instruments: 

Financial instruments include cash, investments, accounts receivable, accrued salaries and 

benefits, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition. Equity instruments and 

derivatives that are quoted in an active market are subsequently recorded at fair value as at 

the reporting date. All other financial instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or 

amortized cost unless management elects to carry the instruments at fair value. The Library 

has not elected to carry any other financial instruments at fair value. 

Unrealized changes in fair value are recognized on the statement of remeasurement gains and 

losses. They are recorded in the statement of operations when they are realized. There are no 

unrealized changes in fair value as at December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023. As a result, 

the Library does not have a statement of remeasurement gains and losses. 

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments subsequently measured 

at fair value are expensed as incurred. 

All financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis. When a decline is 

determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the loss is reported in the statement of 

operations. 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Adoption of new accounting standards: 

(a) PS 3160 Public Private Partnerships Standard: 

On January 1, 2024, the Library adopted Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standard 
PS 3160, Public Private Partnerships ("PS 3160"). The new standard addresses the 

recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of infrastructure procured by public 
sector entities through certain types of public private partnership arrangements. Management 
has assessed that there is no impact of adopting PS 3160 on the financial statements of the 

Library. 

(b) PS 3400 Revenue Standard : 

On January 1, 2024, the Library adopted Canadian public sector accounting standard PS 3400, 
Revenue ("PS 3400"). The new accounting standard establishes a single framework to 
categorize revenue to enhance the consistency of revenue recognition and its measurement. 
Management has assessed that there is no impact of adopting PS 3400 on the financial 

statements of the Library. 

(c) PSG-8 Purchased Intangibles: 

On January 1, 2024, the Library adopted Public Sector Guideline PSG-8, Purchased 

Intangibles, applied on a prospective basis ("PSG-8"). PSG-8 defines purchased intangibles as 
identifiable non-monetary economic resources without physical substance acquired through an 
arm's length exchange transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no 

compulsion to act. Intangibles acquired through a transfer, contribution, or inter-entity 
transaction, are not purchased intangibles. Management has assessed the impact of adopting 
PSG-8 and found that at present no such items meet the criteria to be recognized as a 

purchased intangible. 

4. Due from City of Richmond: 

5. 

Amounts due from the City are comprised of transactions arising throughout the year and amounts 
held in the City's bank account on behalf of the Library. The amounts are unsecured, non-interest 

bearing and have no specific terms of repayment. These transactions are recorded at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 

2024 2023 

Accounts payable $ 280,945 $ 508,171 
Accrued liabilities 35,793 25,186 
Accrued payroll liabilities 936,053 525,238 

$ 1,252,791 $ 1,058,595 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

6. Post-employment benefits: 

7. 

The Library provides certain post-employment benefits, compensated absences and termination 

benefits to its employees. These benefits include accumulated non-vested sick leave and post­
employment benefits. 

Balance, beginning of year 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Past service credit 
Benefits paid 
Amortization of net actuarial gains and losses 

Balance, end of year 

2024 

$ 580,600 
39,500 
23,800 
(1,600) 

(43,700) 
(39,300) 

$ 559,300 

2023 

$ 566,900 
38,300 
25,500 

(32,400) 
(17,700) 

$ 580,600 

An actuarial valuation for these benefits was performed to determine the Library's accrued benefit 

obligation as at December 31, 2024. These actuarial gains and losses are being amortized over a 

period equal to the employees' average remaining service lifetime of 11 years (2023 - 11 years). 

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 
Unamortized net actuarial gain (loss) 

Accrued benefit liability, end of year 

2024 

$ 559,300 
24,400 

$ 583,700 

2023 

$ 580,600 
(9,500) 

$ 571,100 

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the Library's accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 

Discount rate 
Expected future inflation rate 
Expected wage and salary increases 

Deferred revenue: 

Balance, beginning of year 
Contributions 
Revenue recognized as donations revenue 
Revenue recognized as grants revenue (note 10(e)) 

Balance, end of year 

9 

2024 

4.30% 
2.50% 

2.50% to 3.00% 

2024 

$ 102,185 
38,938 

(52,891) 

$ 88,232 

2023 

4.10% 
2.50% 

2.50% to 3.00% 

2023 

$ 221,729 
57,176 

(65,367) 
(111,353) 

$ 102,185 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

8. Tangible capital assets: 

Balance at Balance at 
December 31, December 31, 

Cost 2023 Additions, net Disposals 2024 

Library collections $ 7,060,568 $ 769,186 $ (308,908) $ 7,520,846 
Furniture and fixtures 1,924,864 250,037 2,174,901 
Equipment 2,983,829 117,354 (13,431) 3,087,752 
Work-in-~rogress 143,848 {143,848} 

$ 12,113,109 $ 992,729 $ {322,339~ $12,783,499 

Balance at Balance at 
Accumulated December 31, December 31, 
amortization 2023 Additions Disposals 2024 

Library collections $ 5,219,670 $ 743,171 $ (308,908) $ 5,653,933 
Furniture and fixtures 983,858 71,385 1,055,243 
Equipment 2,190,259 186,231 (13,431) 2,363,059 

$ 8,393,787 $ 1,000,787 $ (322,339) $ 9,072,235 

Balance at Balance at 
December 31, December 31 , 

Net book value 2023 2024 

Library collections $ 1,840,898 $ 1,866,913 
Furniture and fixtures 941,006 1,119,658 
Equipment 793,570 724,693 
Work-in-progress 143,848 

$ 3,719,322 $ 3,711,264 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

9. Accumulated surplus: 

2024 2023 

Operating: 
Appropriated surplus: 

Capital expenditures $ 898,451 $ 368,171 
Library enhancement 451,884 914,548 
IT infrastructure 175,000 575,000 
Training 100,000 100,000 
Budget stabilization 216,000 282,000 
Future capital acquisitions 726,237 710,809 
Library operations 33,401 33,401 
Future salary and benefit obligations 83,002 83,002 
Library grants provision 515,165 627,329 

Total appropriated surplus 3,199,140 3,694,260 

Surplus 535,862 570,570 

Invested in tangible capital assets 3,711,264 3,719,322 

$ 7,446,266 $ 7,984,152 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board approved the transfer from surplus of 

$142,000 to Capital expenditures (2023 - $368,171). 

10. Grants: 

2024 2023 

Provincial Revenue Sharing Grant (a) $ 373,688 $ 373,688 
One Card Grant (b) 16,664 16,664 
British Columbia Equity Grant (c) 4,500 4,500 
Resource Sharing Grants (d) 2,901 2,899 
COVID-19 Relief and Recovery Grant (e) 111,353 
Enhancement Grant (f) 36,969 628,813 

$ 434,722 $ 1,137,917 

(a) Provincial Revenue Sharing Grant is funded by the Libraries Branch of the Ministry of Education 
and Child Care of the Province of British Columbia. 

(b) The One Card Grant is provided by the Libraries Branch of the Ministry of Education and Child 
Care of the Province of British Columbia to ensure that every British Columbian with a valid 
library card has complete access to all public libraries within the province, and that every 
school-age child in Richmond is given their own library card so that they may take full 

advantage of the library's resources. 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

10. Grants (continued): 

(c) British Columbia Equity Grant is awarded by the Libraries Branch of the Ministry of Education 
and Child Care of the Province of British Columbia to support the Library in its role in fostering 
literacy and life-long learning in our community through the purchase of additional library 

materials in the area of literacy and English as a Second Language. 

(d) Resource Sharing Grants are annual grants are provided to BC public libraries to encourage 
their participation in the province-wide inter library loan system. 

(e) COVID-19 Relief and Recovery Grant is awarded by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs of the 
Province of British Columbia to support COVID-19 relief and recovery, including emergency 

planning. 

(f) Enhancement Grant is awarded by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs Public Libraries Branch to 
support local library service enhancement, including helping address shifting demands on 

services, collections, programs, and spaces. This targeted Enhancement Grant is intended to 
supplement local government funding and is not intended to replace it. Enhancement Grant 

funding may be used over three years to enrich people's library experiences through 
augmented local services, programs, and collections and support libraries in working together 
to extend services. 

11. Fines and miscellaneous: 

Book fines 
lnterLINK revenue 
Photocopy and printer revenue 
Miscellaneous 

12. Donations: 

$ 

2024 

12,936 
33,199 
69,519 

7,696 

$ 123,350 

$ 

2023 

12,534 
16,995 
59,456 
17,851 

$ 106,836 

Donations revenue is a combination of unrestricted donations received in the year and the 

recognition of restricted donations relating to expenses incurred in the year. 

Friends of the Library 
Other 
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$ 

$ 

2024 

23,613 
29,278 

52,891 

$ 

$ 

2023 

5,000 
60,367 

65,367 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

13. Investment income: 

The Library has endowment funds administered by the Vancouver Foundation and Richmond 
Community Foundation. Under the terms of the related agreements, the Vancouver Foundation 
and Richmond Community Foundation will retain, invest, and disburse income on the endowment 
funds. The Library receives the net income generated from each fund after deduction of 
administrative costs. The endowment funds are not reflected in these financial statements. 

(a) Richmond Public Library Endowment Fund administered by Vancouver Foundation: 

The fund was established in 1994 and the contributed capital in the fund amounts to $317,553 
at December 31, 2024 (2023 - $296,758). The balance is comprised of donations from Friends 
of the Library ($156,000), Vancouver Foundation's matching program ($75,000), other donors 
($51,900) and recontribution of cumulative income generated as at December 31, 2024 
($34,653). 

As at December 31, 2024, the fair value of the capital in the fund amounted to $463,483 
(2023 - $411,209). 

Under the terms of the agreement, the Library is entitled to withdraw only the investment 
income generated from the fund. Investment income of $20,795 for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, was reinvested into the Endowment Fund's capital (2023 - $13,858). This 
income is presented as investment income and the reinvestment is recorded in general and 
administration expense on the statement of operations. 

(b) Richmond Public Library Permanent Agency Endowment Fund administered by the Richmond 
Community Foundation: 

The fund was established in 2010 and the contributed capital in the fund amounts to $156,548 
at December 31, 2024 (2023 - $155,518). The balance is comprised of donations from Friends 
of the Library of $64,000 (2023 - $64,000) and other donors of $92,548 (2023 - $91,518). 

As at December 31, 2024, the fair value of the capital in the fund amounted to $243,327 
(2023 - $205,314). 

Under the terms of the agreement, the Library is entitled to withdraw only the investment 
income generated from the fund. Investment income of $8,726 for the year ended 
December 31, 2024, was reinvested into the Endowment Fund's capital (2023 - $4,677). This 
income is presented as investment income and the reinvestment is recorded in general and 
administration expense on the statement of operations. 

14. Library subscriptions and databases: 

Digital books and multimedia 
Databases, newspapers and magazines 
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2024 

$ 670,289 
135,535 

$ 805,824 

2023 

$ 684,983 
123,840 

$ 808,823 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

15. Pension plan: 

The Library and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension 
plan). The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for 
administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is a 
multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at 
December 31, 2023, the plan has about 256,000 active members and approximately 129,000 
retired members. Active members include approximately 45,000 contributors from local 
governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan 
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and 
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on 
the entry age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer 
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be 
adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the 
amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, 
indicated a $3,761 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 

The Library paid $539,601 (2023 - $541,069) for employer contributions while employees 
contributed $499,029 (2023 - $495,613) to the plan in fiscal 2024. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in later in 2025. 

· Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting 
in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual 
employers participating in the plan. 

16. Commitments: 

The Library has committed to operating lease payments for the Ironwood and Cambie Branch 
premises, with minimum annual lease payments as follows: 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

17. Contractual rights: 

$ 333,689 
215,500 
215,500 
197,542 

The Library has a longstanding agreement with lnterLINK, entitling them to compensation subject 
to net circulation services to non-residents. The compensation varies from year-to-year. 
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RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

18. Budget data: 

The budget data presented in these financial statements is based on the 2024 budget approved by 
the Board of Trustees on November 29, 2023. The table below reconciles the approved budget to 

the budget figures reported in these financial statements. 

Revenue: 
Operating budget 

Expenses: 
Operating budget 

Less: Transfer from Surplus 
Less: Transfer from Budget Stabilization 
Less: Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Less: Amortization of tangible capital assets 

Annual deficit 

19. Economic dependence: 

Board 
Approved 

Budget 

$ 11,758,900 

(11,589,800) 

375,000 
66,000 

(610,100) 

$ 

The Library is economically dependent on receiving funding from the City. 

20. Financial risk management: 

Financial 
Statement 

Budget 

$ 11,758,900 

(11,589,800) 

(906,000) 

$ (736,900) 

The Board ensures that the Library has identified its major risks and ensures that management 

monitors and mitigates them. 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The Library is exposed to credit risk with respect to its due from the 

City of Richmond and accounts receivable. The Library's credit risk related to due from the City 

of Richmond and accounts receivable is minimal as receivables are with parties that have a 

low risk of collectability. 

(b) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Library will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. 

The Library is exposed to liquidity risk with respect to its accrued salaries and benefits, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The Library maintains adequate levels of working 

capital to ensure all obligations can be met when they fall due. 

There has been no change to the financial risks from 2023. 
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City of 
Richmond Report to Committee 

To: Finance Committee Date: April 10, 2025 

From: John Irving, P.Eng., MPA 
Deputy CAO 

File: 03-0950-01/2025-Vol 01 

Chief Executive Officer, Lulu Island Energy 
Company 

Jerry Chong, CPA, CA 
General Manager, Finance and 
Corporate Services 
Chief Financial Officer, Lulu Island Energy 
Company 

Re: 2024 Financial Statements for the Lulu Island Energy Company 

Staff Recommendation 

That the Lulu Island Energy Company report titled "2024 Financial Statements for the Lulu 
Island Energy Company", dated April 10, 2025, from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, be received for information. 

Jo~~.MPA 
Deputy CAO 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Lulu Island Energy Company 
(604-276-4140) 

8022654 

Jerry Chong, CPA, CA 
General Manager, Finance 
and Corporate Services 
Chief Financial Officer, 
Lulu Island Energy Company 
(604-276-4064) 
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A Lulu lsland V ENERGY COMPANY 

6911 NO. 3 ROAD 
RICHMOND, BC V6Y 2C1 

Report 

DATE: March 11, 2025 

Board of Directors TO: 

FROM: Jerry Chong, CPA, CA, Chief Financial Officer 

Re: 2024 Financial Statements for the Lulu Island Energy Company 

Staff Recommendation 

That the audited financial statements of the Lulu Island Energy Company (LIEC) for the year 
ended December 31 , 2024, be approved, and that any two LIEC directors be authorized to sign 
the financial statements on behalf of the Board. 

Origin 

Section 11.3 of the LIEC Articles oflncorporation requires that an auditor be appointed and that 
audited financial statements be prepared at the end of each fiscal year. It also requires that the 
audited financial statements be presented annually at an open City of Richmond Council meeting 
within 150 days ofLIEC's fiscal year end. This report presents the 2024 audited financial 
statements for the LIEC Board's approval. See Attachment 1 for a brief overview of the District 
Energy Utility service areas. 

Analysis 

The preparation of financial statements is the responsibility of management. As a Government 
Business Enterprise (GBE), LIEC's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

LIEC' s audited financial statements consist of: 
• Statement of financial position - summary of assets, liabilities, and shareholder's equity; 
• Statement of profit or loss and total comprehensive income - summary of revenues, 

expenses, other activities, and net income for the year; 
• Statement of changes in equity - summary of changes in share capital, contributed 

surplus, and accumulated surplus for the year; 
• Statement of cash flows - summary of the sources and uses of cash in the year; and 
• Notes to the financial statements - summaiy of additional information pertaining to 

operations and financial position. 
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The financial statements have been audited by the independent finn KPMG LLP, as the 
designated auditor at the 2024 Annual General Meeting. Their report precedes the financial 
statements in Attachment 3. 

Financial Position 

Table 1: Summary of assets, liabilities and shareholder's equity 

2024 2023 $ Changes % Change 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,576,940 $2,511,976 $ 5,064,964 202% 

Accounts receivable 4,385,448 4,792,892 (407,444) (9%) 

Investments 13,727,812 12,014,953 1,712,859 14% 

Plant and egui:rment 58,128,103 53,740,785 4,387,318 8% 

Total Assets $ 83,818,303 $ 73,060,606 $ 10,757,697 15% 

Accounts payable $ 1,377,195 $ 1,848,902 $ (471,707) (26%) 

Government grants 514,462 403,026 111,436 28% 

Deferred developer contributions 22,788,278 19,235,460 3,552,818 18% 

Project Agreement liability 19,283,096 14,475,318 4,807,778 33% 

Shareholder's Eguity 39,855,272 37,097,900 2,757,372 7% 
Total Liabilities and 
Shareholder's Eguity $ 83,818,303 $ 73,060,606 $ 10,757,697 15% 

The statement of financial position provides a summary of assets, liabilities, and shareholder's 
equity. 

Cash and cash equivalents and Investments 

The year-end cash balance of $7,575,940 (2023 - $2,511,976) supports operational activities and 
committed capital projects. The increase in cash was due to net income and advanced payments 
from developers for future building connections. LIEC maintained a higher cash balance at year­
end to facilitate upcoming financial transactions for Metro Vancouver and CleanBC grants 
related to Sewer Heat Recovery project. LIEC's investments of $13,727,812 (2023 -
$12,014,953) remain in secured te1m deposits with a continued strategy to capitalize on higher 
interest rates. 

Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable totaled $4,385,448 (2023 - $4,792,892), primarily reflecting accruals for the 
last quarter's meter billings. The decrease from the prior year is due to the collection of 
outstanding developers' contributions, which were recorded as receivables at the end of 2023 and 
received in 2024. 
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Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment are reported at the net book value, representing capital cost net of 
accumulated depreciation. In 2024, the net book value increased to $58,128,103 (2023 -
$53,740,785) due to additional capital expenditures. 

Accounts Payable and Government Grants 

Accounts payable totaled $1,377,195 (2023 - 1,848,902), representing outstanding vendor 
invoices. The decrease compared to prior year was due to the timing of year-end invoices. The 
government grant liability increased to $514,462 (2023 - $403,026), reflecting the accumulated 
CleanBC grant received for the Sewer Heat Recovery project. In accordance with IFRS 
reporting, the grant is recognized as revenue annually over the useful life of the plant once the 
asset is in service. 

Deferred Developer Contributions and Project Agreement Liabilities 

Utility company balance sheets are predominantly dominated by capital assets and debt due to 
the requirements to build out the infrastructure network. The developers' contributions and 
Project Agreement liabilities are the primary sources of funding for the construction of new 
assets, which make up the majority of the liabilities. Developer contributions, which recover the 
construction costs for in-building equipment installation, are recognized as defened liabilities. In 
accordance with IFRS reporting, revenue from these contributions is recognized annually over 
the useful life of the equipment once the asset is in service. At the 2024 year-end, defened 
developer contribution totaled $22,788,278 (2023 - $19,235,460). 

The Project Agreement liability is associated with the 30-year agreements between LIEC, Corix, 
and the Canada Infrastructure Bank (CIB). Under the Project Agreement, Corix designs, 
constructs, finances, and maintains the CCDEU infrastructure, while CIB provides low-cost 
financing for a portion of the infrastructure. The Project Agreement liability represents 
anticipated future cash outflow for capital and operating costs under the agreement. At the 2024 
year-end, the Project Agreement liability was $19,283,096 (2023 - $14,475,318) 

Shareholder's Equity 

Shareholder's equity reflects the net worth of the company, calculated as total assets minus the 
total liabilities. In 2024, LIEC's shareholder equity was $39,855,272 (2023 - $37,097,900), 
representing a 7% increase from the previous year. 

8022654 

FIN – 161



March 11, 2025 - 4 -

Profit or Loss and Total Comprehensive Income 

2024 2023 $ Changes % Change 
Revenues 

Metered billings $ 8,778,966 $7,588,977 $ 1,189,989 
Service fee 981,486 981,486 

9,760,452 8,570,463 1,189,989 
Cost of Sales 

Contracts1 2,093,165 1,805,391 287,774 

Utilities 1,926,163 1,815,943 110,220 
Depreciation 1,798,972 1,455,216 343,756 

5,818,300 5,076,550 741,750 

Gross Profit 3,942,152 3,493,913 448,239 

General and Administration Expenses 

Salaries and benefits 1,074,838 1,056,910 17,928 
Administration expenses' 365,929 339,068 26,861 

Insurance 345,218 308,640 36,578 

Professional fees 323,760 270,883 52,877 

2,109,745 1,975,501 134,244 

Net Income Before Other Items 1,832,407 1,518,412 313,995 

Contributions and Financing Expense 
Developer contributions 668,131 475,410 192,721 

Other income 32,868 20,511 12,357 

Finance income 958,986 785,190 173,796 

Finance cost (735,020) (729,783) (5,237) 

924,965 551,328 373,637 

Net Income $2,757,372 $2,069,740 $687,632 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 

Net income per above $2,757,372 $2,069,740 $687,632 

Net finance cost (income) (223,966) (55,407) (168,559) 

Depreciation expense 1,798,972 1,455,216 343,756 

EBITDA $4,332,378 $3,469,549 $862,829 

1 2023 amount is adjusted from audited financial statement for comparison purpose, due to cost reclassification 
between administration expense and contracts expense. Net income is not impacted. 
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The statement of profit or loss and total comprehensive income provides a summary of the 
company's revenues, expenses, and profits over the fiscal year of 2024. It reports the financial 
performance of the company. 

Table 2: Percentage of revenue 

Percentage of Revenue 
Gross margin 
General and administration percentage 
EBITDA percentage 
Net income percentage 

Year-over-Year Change 

Revenues 

December 31, December 31, 
2024 2023 

40% 41% 
22% 23% 
44% 40% 
28% 24% 

Metered billings reflect energy sales based on the actual customers' energy usage and 
consumption. It comprises of energy sales from ADEU and CCDEU service areas2

• Metered 
billings revenue was $5,926,105 (2023 - 4,712,496) from the CCDEU and $2,852,861 (2023 -
2,876,481) from the ADEU. Overall, metered billings increased by $1,189,989 to $9,760,452 
(2023 - $7,588,977). The increase was due to additional energy use by buildings that were not 
fully occupied in prior years, as well as the approved 2024 rate increase. 

There was no change to the service fee of $981,486 (2023 - $981,486) for LIEC's facilitation of 
advancing district energy opportunities in the City, which results in numerous benefits to the 
City and community of Richmond. The service fee covers staff and specialized consultants 
working on low carbon district energy initiatives. With or without LIEC, the City would need to 
fund these costs in order to successfully implement district energy initiatives for the City and 
position itself at the forefront of tackling local and global environmental challenges. The City 
identified district energy utilities as a leading strategy to achieve the City's GHG reduction 
goals. To date, it is estimated that LIEC's district energy systems has resulted in the reduction of 
over 22,870 tons of GHG emissions. 

Cost of Sales 

The cost of sales consists of total expenses attributable to energy sales, which includes contract 
services, utilities ( electricity and natural gas), and depreciation. Contract expenses increased by 
$287,774 to $2,093,165 (2023 - $1,805,391) due to additional operations and maintenance work. 
Contract expenses increased by 16%, consistent with the increase in metered revenue. 

Utility expenses increased by $110,220 to $1,926,163 (2023 - $1,815,943) driven by increased 
energy usage from new buildings connected in 2023 that operated for the first time for a full year 
in 2024. 

2 Note that OVDEU is now combined under the CCDEU service area. 
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Depreciation expense increased due to additional assets being put into service. The gross margin 
in 2024 was 40%, which was slightly lower than the 41 % in 2023. This was mainly due to the 
additional maintenance and higher utility costs of the newly connected on-site Low Carbon 
Energy Plants (LCEPs). 

General and administration expenses 

The general and administration expenses are expenditures that LIEC incurs to engage in business 
development activities and includes salaries and benefits, administration expenses, insurance and 
professional fees. The general and administration expenses increased by $134,244 to $2,109,745 
(2023 - $1,975,501) driven by the following key factors: 

• Administration expenses - The increase of $26,861 to $365,929 (2023 - $339,068) was 
mainly due to the increase in the CCDEU Project Agreement related administration 
expenses, which include: project administration, overhead costs for managing Corix's 
special purpose entity, and CIB financial administration requirements. This increase was 
expected as the implementation of the CCDEU project ramped up. Administration 
expenses also include the overhead allocation of $69,680 (2023 - $70,723) paid to the 
City of Richmond for the day-to-day support that LIEC received from City staff during 
the year. 

• Insurance - The premium increased by $36,578 or 12% due to a general insurance rate 
increase, and the inclusion of additional capital assets under coverage. 

• Professional fees - The increase of $52,877 to $323,760 (2023 - $270,883) was due to 
costs associated with professional studies. Additionally, higher audit fees contributed to 
this increase, as additional work was required to support the company's operational 
growth. 

Overall, general and administration expenses as a percentage of revenues was 22% in 2024, 
slightly lower than in 2023 (23%). 

Contributions and financing expenses 

The contributions and financing expense section represents other sources of revenue and 
expenses for the Company. Developer contributions increased compared to 2023 due to two new 
connections that occuned in 2023 and operated for a full year for the first time in 2024. Other 
income was higher than 2023 due to LIEC receiving a recovery payment for its internal 
administrative and personnel costs related to Corix reorganization consent request. Interest 
income was higher than 2023 due to higher cash and investment balances. Finance expense was 
higher than 2023 due to increase in new infrastructure being financed and constructed. 

LIEC's earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), used as a proxy 
to measure the company's operational efficiency, increased to 44% as a percentage of revenue 
compared to 40% in 2023. This was due to the increase in revenue outpacing the increase in 
operating costs. 
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Overall, LIEC's revenues exceeded expenses, resulting in a net income of $2,757,372 (2023 -
$2,069,740). 

LIEC's financial sustainability and future growth must be taken into consideration when 
reviewing its EBITDA and net income. LIEC's success is dependent upon developing in-house 
expertise and securing funds for future capital replacements as existing infrastructure 
components reach their end of life, as well as to cover expenses of unexpected and rare events. 
Other important factors include the planning of future projects, which consists ofresearch and 
development, and exploratory reviews of future technology and opportunities. 

Budget Variance 
(See Attachment 2 for 2024 budget to actual comparison) 

Revenues 

The metered billings are the total energy sales of both ADEU and CCDEU service areas. The 
metered billings revenue was $2,852,861 from the ADEU and $5,926,104 from the CCDEU. 
2024 actual revenue of $9,760,452 was in line with the budget. 

Cost of Sales 

Contract expenses were under budget by 12% mainly due to less unscheduled maintenance and 
repairs. Utility expenses are based on actual customers' energy usage and consumption of 
electricity and natural gas. The overall utility cost was lower than budget by 29% due to milder 
weather and significantly lower natural gas commodity cost than originally projected for 2024. 

Depreciation expenses were lower than budget mainly due to the timing of new capital asset 
additions. Overall, the cost of sales was 17% below the budget. The gross margin of 40% still 
exceeded budget by 11 % due to the lower than forecasted utility and contract costs. 

General and Administration Expenses 

Administration expenses were lower than the budget due to underutilized internal administration 
expense budget. Insurance expenses were below budget due to the timing of capital expenditures. 
Professional fees were lower than budget due to the delay of some technical studies and updated 
developer guidelines which will take place in 2025. Overall, total general and administration 
expenses were 10% under the budget. 

Contributions and Financing Expense 

Developer contributions exceeded the budget due to the additional value recognized from 
developer-contributed assets. Other income surpassed the budget as LIEC received a recovery 
payment for its internal administrative and personnel costs related to Corix reorganization 
consent. The finance cost was below budget primarily due to the timing of assets coming into 
service and the capitalization of interest on work-in-progress. This was also attributed to delays 
in some capital investments due to development timeline setbacks. The interest income exceeded 
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budget, as LIEC actively pursued higher interest rate opportunities through various term deposits 
yielding much higher returns than originally anticipated. 

LIEC's overall financial perfonnance exceeded budget. Consistent with the company's financial 
plan objectives, any net income will be maintained in LIEC's equity in order to fund future 
capital projects and infrastructure replacement. 

Financial Impact 

None. 

Conclusion 

The Auditor's Report states that these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd. as of December 31, 2024, and its 
financial perfonnance and cash flow for the year end in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Helen Zhao 
Controller 
(604-276-4019) 

Attachment 1 : District Energy in Richmond 
Attachment 2: 2024 Budget and Actual Comparison 
Attachment 3: 2024 Audited Financial Statements 
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Cody Lan 
Assistant Controller 
(604-247-4698) 
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Attachment 1 

District Energy in Richmond 

Richmond's 2041 Official Community Plan (OCP) establishes a target to reduce greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emissions 50 percent below 2007 levels by 2030 and 100 percent by 2050. The City 
identified district energy utilities (DEUs) as a leading strategy to achieve the City's GHG 
reduction goals and incorporated Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd. (LIEC) in 2013 for the 
purpose of carrying out the City's district energy initiatives based on the following guiding 
principles: 

1. The DEU will provide end users with energy costs that are competitive with conventional 
energy costs, based on the same level of service; and 

2. Council will retain the authority to set customer rates, fees and charges for DEU services. 

The City established three DEU service areas: ADEU, OVDEU, and CCDEU. Table 1 below 
provides a summary of the developments connected under the DEU service areas to date. 

Table 1 - DEU Service Areas - Current and Projected Connected Space 

Buildings Residential Floor Area 

To-Date Units To-Date To-Date Build-out 

Alexandra DEU 13 2,200 2.4M ft2 4.4M ft2 

Oval Village DEU 14 3,174 3.7M ft2 6.4M ft2 

City Centre DEU 4 1,549 1.7M ft2 48.0M ft2 

Total 31 6,923 7.8M ft2 58.8Mft2 

The ADEU provides heating and cooling services to ten residential buildings, the large 
commercial development at "Central at Garden City", the Richmond Jamatkhana Temple, and 
Fire Hall No. 3, comprising 2,200 residential units and over 2.4 million square feet of floor area. 
While some electricity is consumed for pumping and equipment operations, most of this energy 
is currently produced locally from the geo-exchange fields in the greenway corridor and West 
Cambie Park, and highly efficient air source heat pumps. 

The OVDEU services 14 buildings, containing 3,174 residential units. Energy is currently 
supplied from the three interim energy centres with natural gas boilers, which provide 16 MW of 
heating capacity. LIEC received a $6.2 million grant from the CleanBC Communities Fund for 
the design and construction of the sewer heat recove1y technology and a permanent energy centre 
for the area. This project is in the preliminary design stage and is expected to be completed in 
2028. Once completed, the system will be able to produce up to 80% oflow-carbon energy from 
the Gilbert Trunk sanitary force main sewer. 

The CCDEU currently services four buildings, comprised of 1,549 residential units and 
approximately 1. 7 million square feet of floor area. While off site energy centres progress 
through development, CCDEU utilizes on-site low carbon energy plants as a source of energy 
production. At full build-out, 176 developments, 28,000 residential units and approximately 48 
million square feet of floor space will be serviced by 5 permanent energy centres with over 130 
MW of heating and 115 MW of cooling capacity. The built-out system is estimated to reduce 
over one million tonnes of GHG emissions compared to conventional service. 
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Attachment 2 

2024 Budget and Actual Comparison 

Budget Actual $ Changes % Change 
Revenues 

Metered Billings $8,843,699 $8,778,966 $ (64,733) (1%) 

Service fee 981,486 981,486 0% 

9,825,185 9,760,452 (64,733) (1%) 
Cost of Sales 

Contracts 2,384,879 2,093,165 (291,714) (12%) 
Utilities 2,714,879 1,926,163 (788,716) (29%) 
Depreciation 1,923,980 1,798,972 (125,008) (6%) 

7,023,738 5,818,300 (1,205,438) (17%) 

Gross profit 2,801,447 3,942,152 1,140,705 41% 

General and Administration Expenses 

Salaries and benefits 1,038,072 1,074,838 36,766 4% 
Administration expenses 417,739 365,929 (51,810) (12%) 
Insurance 418,160 345,218 (72,942) (17%) 
Professional Fees 465,282 323,760 (141,522} (30%) 

2,339,253 2,109,745 (229,308) (10%) 

Net income before other items 462,194 1,832,407 1,370,213 

Contributions and Financing expense 
Developer contributions 557,442 668,131 110,689 20% 
Other income 27,000 32,868 5,868 22% 
Financing income 400,000 958,986 558,986 140% 
Financing cost (1,084,616} (735,020} 349,596 {32%) 

(100,174) 924,965 1,025,139 

Net Income $362,020 $2,757,372 $2,395,352 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA) 
Net income per above $ 362,020 $2,757,372 $2,395,352 

Net Financing cost 684,616 (223,966) (908,582) (133%) 
Depreciation expense 1,923,980 1,798,972 (125,008} (6%) 

EBITDA $2,970,616 $4,332,378 $ 1,361,762 46% 
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2024 Audited Financial Statements 
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Financial Statements 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

LULU ISLAND ENERGY 
COMPANY LTD. 

And Independent Auditor's Report thereon 

Year ended December 31, 2024 
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KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1 K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691 -3031 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of the Lulu Island Energy Company: 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd. (the "Entity"), which 
comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024 

• the statement of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year then ended 

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of material accounting policies 
(hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2024, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our auditor's report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion . 

t:PrvlG LLP, an Ontario li1111ted liabilitv pa1tnersh ip and member fum of the ~'. PMG globa l orga11izat1on of independc-nt member f11ms aff 1h;i1ed 

with ltP lv1G Int ernati ona l Limited, a p,ivate English compa ny limited by guarantee. !~PMG Canada provides servi(es to KPMG LLP . 
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Page 2 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 
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Page 3 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's abil ity to continue as a going concern . 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion . Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern . 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding , among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 
April 11 , 2025 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Statement of Financial Position 

December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

2024 2023 

Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,576,940 $ 2,511,976 
Accounts receivable (note 4) 4,385,448 4,792,892 
Investments (note 5) 9,120,685 12,014,953 

21,083,073 19,319,821 

Non-current assets: 
Investments (note 5) 4,607,127 
Plant and equipment (note 6) 58,128,103 53,740,785 

Total assets $ 83,818,303 $ 73,060,606 

Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7) $ 1,377,195 $ 1,848,902 
Current portion of deferred developer contributions (note 8(a)) 668,133 668,131 
Current portion of Project Agreement liability (note 9) 7,158,752 6,125,191 

9,204,080 8,642,224 

Non-current liabilities: 
Government grants (note 8(b)) 514,462 403,026 
Deferred developer contributions (note 8(a)) 22,120,145 18,567,329 
Project Agreement liability (note 9) 12,124,344 8,350,127 

34,758,951 27,320,482 

Total liabilities 43,963,031 35,962,706 

Shareholder's equity: 
Share capital and contributed surplus (note 10) 27,397,115 27,397,115 
Retained earnings 12,458,157 9,700,785 

39,855,272 37,097,900 

Commitments and contingencies (note 13) 

Total equity and liabilities $ 83,818,303 $ 73,060,606 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 

Director Director 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Total Comprehensive Income 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

2024 2023 

Revenue (note 14, 15(a)) $ 9,760,452 $ 8,570,463 

Cost of sales: 
Operating expenses 4,019,328 3,419,169 
Depreciation (note 6) 1,798,972 1,455,216 

5,818,300 4,874,385 

Gross profit 3,942,152 3,696,078 

General and administrative expenses (note 11, 15(b)) 2,109,745 2,177,666 

Profit before undernoted items 1,832,407 1,518,412 

Developer contributions, other income 
and net finance cost: 

Developer contributions (note 8(a)) 668,131 475,410 
Other income (note 15(a)) 32,868 20,511 
Net finance income (note 12) 223,966 55,407 

924,965 551,328 

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year $ 2,757,372 $ 2,069,740 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Statement of Changes in Equity 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

Share Contributed Retained Shareholder's 
capital surplus earnings equity 
(note 10) (note 10) 

Balance, January 1, 2023 $ 5 $ 27,397,110 $ 7,631,045 $ 35,028,160 

Profit and 
total comprehensive income 2,069,740 2,069,740 

Balance, December 31, 2023 5 27,397,110 9,700,785 37,097,900 

Profit and 
total comprehensive income 2,757,372 2,757,372 

Balance, December 31, 2024 $ 5 $ 27,397,110 $ 12,458,157 $ 39,855,272 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 

2024 2023 

Cash provided by (used in): 

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities: 
Profit and total comprehensive income $ 2,757,372 $ 2,069,740 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 1,798,972 1,455,216 
Recognition of deferred developer contributions (668,131) (475,410) 
Finance expense 735,020 729,783 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
Accounts receivable 407,444 (406,393) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (471,708) (2,003,987) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,558,969 1,368,949 

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities: 
Additions to plant and equipment (1,118,889) (2,050,178) 
Deferred developer contributions 4,220,949 438,780 
Cash receipts from sale of investments 12,014,953 12,324,233 
Cash payments to acquire investments (13,727,812) (12,014,953) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,389,201 (1,302,118) 

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities: 
Cash received from government grants 111,438 161,975 
Project Agreement liability, net (994,644) (908,210) 

Net cash used in financing activities (883,206) (746,235) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,064,964 (679,404) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,511,976 3,191,380 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 7,576,940 $ 2,511,976 

Non-cash transactions: 
Additions to plant and equipment $ (5,067,401) $ (7,400,770) 
Project Agreement liability 4,855,397 3,247,234 
Developer contributions 6,254,275 
Finance cost capitalized to plant and equipment 212,005 44,953 
Accounts receivable (2,145,692) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

1. Incorporation and nature of business: 

The Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd. (the "Company") was incorporated on August 19, 2013 
under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia as a municipal corporation wholly owned 
by the City of Richmond (the "City"). The address of the Company's registered office is 6911 No. 
3 Road, Richmond, British Columbia, V6Y 2C1. 

The business of the Company is to develop, manage and operate district energy utilities in the 
City, including, but not limited to, energy production, generation or exchange, transmission, 
distribution, maintenance, marketing and sale to customers, customer service, profit generation 
and financial management. The Company also provides advisory services for energy and 
infrastructure. 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). 

These financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors 
on April 10, 2025. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and on a going 
concern basis. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company's 
functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected. 

5 FIN – 178



LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments (continued): 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the 
following note: 

• Note 8(a) - Deferred developer contributions and Government grants. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following note: 

• Note 3(a)(iii) and Note 6 - useful lives of plant and equipment. 

3. Material accounting policies: 

The material accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years 
presented in these financial statements, unless otherwise indicated. 

(a) Plant and equipment: 

(i) Recognition and measurement: 

Plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Cost includes amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, 
development, or betterment of the asset, after deducting trade discounts and rebates. 
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any 
other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their 
intended use and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. 

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalized as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment, 
and are recognized net within other income in profit and loss. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Material accounting policies (continued): 

(a) Plant and equipment (continued): 

(ii) Subsequent costs: 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of plant and equipment is recognized in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the part will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The cost of the day-to-day 
servicing of plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

(iii) Depreciation: 

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset less 
its residual value. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment commences when the asset is deemed available for 
use and is recognized in profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment as follows: 

Asset 

Energy plant center 
Distribution piping 
General equipment 

Useful life - years 

75 
50 

20-40 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial 
year end and adjusted if appropriate. 

(b) Revenue recognition: 

The Company recognizes revenue for the provision of energy and supply of other services. 
Revenue for the provision of energy is based on meter readings and is billed on a cyclical 
basis. Revenue is accrued for energy delivered but not yet billed. Revenue for other services 
is recognized upon completion of service. Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably 
measured, regardless of when payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Material accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Concession projects: 

Concession projects are delivered by partners selected to design, build, finance, and 
maintain the assets which are owned by the Company. The cost of the assets under 
construction are recorded at cost, based on construction progress billings and also includes 
other costs, if any, incurred directly by the Company. 

When deemed available for use, the project assets are amortized over their estimated useful 
lives. An obligation for the cost of capital and financing received to date, net of repayments, is 
recorded under Project Agreement liability (note 9). 

(d) Government grants: 

Government grants related to assets are initially recognised as deferred income at fair value 
if there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Company will comply with 
the conditions associated with the grant. Grants related to the acquisition of assets are 
recognised in profit or loss as other income on a systematic basis over the useful life of the 
asset. 

( e) Developer contributions: 

Developer contributions are amounts received from developers toward the cost of equipment 
and/or assets received/receivable from developers, required for the supply of district energy 
to the developer site. Developer contributions are recognized into income over the expected 
useful life of the related assets from when the assets are available for use. Non-cash 
developer contributions are initially recorded at fair value. 

(f) Income taxes: 

Under Section 149(1)(d) of the Income Tax Act, the Company is exempt from income and 
capital taxes by virtue of the fact that it is a wholly owned subsidiary of the City. Accordingly, 
no provision for such taxes has been made in these financial statements. 

(g) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities 
of three months or less. 

(h) Finance income and finance cost: 

Finance income comprises interest on funds invested. Interest income is recognized as it 
accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on the Project Agreement liability. Finance costs 
that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Material accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments: 

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities: 

Under IFRS 9, Financial Instruments ("IFRS 9"), on initial recognition, a financial asset is 
classified as measured at: amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income 
("FVOCI") - debt instrument, FVOCI - equity instrument, or fair value through profit or loss 
("FVTPL"). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally based on the 
business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics. 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated as FVTPL: it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
assets to collect contractual cash flows; and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as FVTPL: 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in OCI. This 
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 
above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that 
is initially measured at the transaction price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item 
not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition. 

9 FIN – 182



LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Material accounting policies (continued): 

(i) Financial instruments (continued): 

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities ( continued): 

The following accounting policies apply to subsequent measurement of financial assets: 

• Financial assets at FVTPL: these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net 
gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or 
loss. 

Financial assets at amortized cost: these assets are subsequently measured at 
amortized costs using the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by 
impairment losses (see note 3U)(i)). Interest income and impairment are recognized in 
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss. 

• Debt investments at FVOCI: these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method and impairment are 
recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains are recognized in OCI. On derecognition, 
gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 

• Equity investments at FVOCI: these assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Dividends are recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses 
are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at amortized cost. Subsequent to initial recognition 
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

The following table shows the measurement categories for each class of the Company's 
financial assets and financial liabilities: 

Financial assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Investments 

Financial liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Project Agreement liability 

10 

Amortized cost 
Amortized cost 
Amortized cost 

Amortized cost 
Amortized cost 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Material accounting policies (continued): 

U) Impairment: 

(i) Financial assets: 

The 'expected credit loss' ("ECL") impairment model applies to financial assets measured 
at amortized cost, contract assets and debt investments at FVOCI, but not to investments 
in equity instruments. 

The financial assets at amortized cost consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable and investments. 

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases: 

• 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 
12-months after the reporting date; and 

• Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. 

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The 
Company has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables, including 
amounts due from the City, at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

Measurement of ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses 
are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the 
cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 
Company expects to receive). 

(ii) Non-financial assets: 

The carrying amounts of the Company's non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing 
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets 
(the "cash-generating unit" or "CGU"). 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Material accounting policies (continued): 

U) Impairment (continued): 

(ii) Non-financial assets (continued): 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been 
recognized. 

(k) Pension benefits: 

The Company and its employees participate in the Municipal Pension Plan, a multi-employer 
defined benefit plan. Defined contribution plan accounting is applied to this plan because 
separate information for the Company is unable to be provided to apply defined benefit 
accounting. The expenses associated with this plan are equal to the actual contributions 
required by the Company during the reporting period. 

(I) Standards issued but not yet effective: 

A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after January 1, 2024 
and earlier application is permitted; however, the Company has not early adopted the new or 
amended standards in preparing these financial statements. 

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements: 

I FRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and applies for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. The new standard introduces the 
following key new requirements: 

• Entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five categories in the 
statement of profit or loss, namely the operating, investing, financing, discontinued 
operations and income tax categories. Entities are also required to present a newly­
defined operating profit subtotal. Entities' net profit will not change. 

• Management-defined performance measures (MPMs) are disclosed in a single note in 
the financial statements. 

• Enhanced guidance is provided on how to group information in the financial statements. 

In addition, all entities are required to use the operating profit subtotal as the starting point for 
the statement of cash flows when presenting operating cash flows under the indirect method. 

The Company is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new standard, particularly 
with respect to the structure of the Company's statement of profit or loss, the statement of 
cash flows and the additional disclosures required for MPMs. The Company is also assessing 
the impact of how information is grouped in the financial statements, including for items 
currently labelled as 'other'. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

3. Material accounting policies (continued): 

4. 

5. 

(I) Standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

The following amended standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after January 1, 2024 and are not expected to have a material impact on the 
financial statements. 

• Lack of exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21 ); 

• Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 7). 

Accounts receivable: 

2024 2023 

Trade receivables $ 1,251,399 $ 2,371,845 
Due from City of Richmond (note 15(a)) 166,301 165,059 
Unbilled trade receivables 2,833,834 2,157,192 
GST receivable 133,914 98,796 

$ 4,385,448 $ 4,792,892 

Investments: 

Investments represent term deposits as follows: 

Purchase date Maturity date Interest rate 2024 2023 

June 20, 2024 June 20, 2025 5.20% $ 2,980,151 $ 
June 20, 2024 June 22, 2026 5.01% 1,026,628 
June 20, 2024 June 22, 2027 5.00% 1,026,575 
July 23, 2024 July 23, 2025 5.22% 3,069,076 
July 23, 2024 July 23, 2025 5.40% 3,071,458 
July 23, 2024 July 23, 2026 4.89% 2,553,924 
June 15, 2024 June 17, 2024 6.21% 3,707,485 
June 15, 2024 June 17, 2024 5.65% 1,056,153 
July 19, 2024 July 19, 2024 6.40% 4,357,453 
November 8, 2024 November 8, 2024 6.21% 2,893,862 

13,727,812 12,014,953 

Less: current portion of investments 9,120,685 12,014,953 

Non-current investments $ 4,607,127 $ 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

6. Plant and equipment: 

Energy General Distribution 
elant center eguiement eieing Total 

Cost: 
Balance as at December 31, 2022 $ 5,031,915 $ 33,595,729 $ 14,561,392 $ 53,189,036 
Transfer 667,176 (667,176) 
Additions 6,337,288 3,113,661 9,450,949 

Balance as at December 31, 2023 5,031,915 40,600,193 17,007,877 62,639,985 
Additions 2,802,641 3,383,649 6,186,290 

Balance as at December 31, 2024 $ 5,031,915 $ 43,402,834 $ 20,391,526 $ 68,826,275 

Accumulated depreciation: 

Balance as at December 31, 2022 $ 402,552 $ 5,890,695 $ 1,150,737 $ 7,443,984 
Transfer (6,723) 6,723 
Deereciation 67,092 1,178,511 209,613 1,455,216 

Balance as at December 31, 2023 469,644 $ 7,062,483 $ 1,367,073 $ 8,899,200 
Depreciation 67,092 1,431,183 300,697 1,798,972 

Balance as at December 31, 2024 $ 536,736 $ 8,493,666 $ 1,667,770 $ 10,698,172 

Net book value: 
At December 31, 2022 $ 4,629,363 $ 27,705,034 $ 13,410,655 $ 45,745,052 
At December 31, 2023 4,562,271 33,537,710 15,640,804 53,740,785 
At December 31, 2024 4,495,179 34,909,168 18,723,756 58,128,103 

Included in plant and equipment is $10,706,471 (2023- $5,173,479) of assets under construction 
being $5,212,386 (2023 - $2,982,685) general equipment and $5,494,085 (2023 - $2,190,794) 
distribution piping. For the year ended December 31, 2024, capitalized borrowing costs related to 
the construction of the general equipment and distribution system in the year amounted to 
$212,005 (2023 - $44,953), calculated using a capitalization rate of 4.76% (2023 - 4.40%). 

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 

In 2020, the Company identified a distribution pipe leakage of heat transfer fluid at one of the 
Company's service areas. Following repair and remediation of the service area in earlier years, 
during the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company continued to monitor the service area 
and incur legal costs associated with the leak, and recognized expenses of nil (2023 - nil) in other 
expenses. As of December 31, 2024, $259,293 (2023 - $440,560) is included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities pertaining to the accrued costs associated with the leak. 
Management believes the Company has adequately provided for the costs associated with leak 
and intends to seek compensation for costs incurred and accrued from the third parties involved. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities also include post-employment benefits of $86,000 (2023 
- $72,800). 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

8. Deferred developer contributions and Government grants: 

(a) Deferred developer contributions: 

The following table summarizes deferred developer contribution amounts recognized: 

Deferred developer contributions, beginning of year 

Developer contributions receivable 
Developer contributions received (net of refunds) 
Developer contributions received (non-cash) 
Recognized revenue from developer contributions 

Less: current portion of deferred developer contributions 

Non-current deferred developer contributions 

(b) Government grants: 

2024 

$ 19,235,460 

4,220,949 

(668,131) 
22,788,278 

668,133 

$22,120,145 

2023 

$13,017,815 

2,145,692 
366,780 

4,180,583 
(475,410) 

19,235,460 

668,131 

$ 18,567,329 

In 2022, the Company was awarded a grant (the "Sewer Heat Recovery grant") from 
Clean BC Communities Fund. In 2024, the Company recognized on the statement of financial 
position $514,464 (2023 - $403,026) under the Sewer Heat Recovery grant. As the relevant 
assets were under construction at December 31, 2024, the grants received have been 
deferred under non-current liabilities. 

9. City Centre District Energy Utility Project Agreement: 

On September 22, 2022, the Company entered into a new concession project agreement (the 
"Project Agreement") with City Centre Energy Limited Partnership ("Project Contractor") to 
design, build, finance, operate and maintain City Centre District Energy Utility infrastructure 
providing heating and cooling services to new residential and mixed use commercial 
developments within the City Centre area (the "CCDEU project"). The Project Contractor was a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Corix Utilities Inc. ("Corix"). During 2024, following a re-organization 
within Corix, the Project Contractor become a wholly owned subsidiary of Corix District Energy 
Holdings GP Inc. 

The total estimated Project Agreement liability to finance the construction of the CCDEU project 
at full build out is estimated at $618,657,000 and will be accrued over time as the infrastructure is 
constructed and services are rendered. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

9. City Centre District Energy Utility Project Agreement (continued): 

The Project Agreement liability is payable monthly in accordance with the Project Agreement 
terms. Required Project Agreement liability payment obligations are disclosed in note 13. 

The following tables summarize the changes in the Project Agreement liability due to financing 

cash flows and liability related additions and repayments: 

(a) Project Agreement liability: 

2024 2023 

Project Agreement liability - capital $ 18,343,191 $ 13,968,958 
Project Agreement liabilitl'. - non-ca12ital 939,905 506,360 

19,283,096 14,475,318 

Less: Current portion of Project Agreement liability (7,158,752) (6,125,191) 

Non-current portion of Project Agreement liability $ 12,124,344 $ 8,350,127 

The average finance cost on the project liability is 5.17% for the year ended December 31, 
2024 (2023 - 5.35%). 

The Project Agreement liability is repayable as follows: 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 and thereafter 

Total 

$ 7,158,752 
1,429,696 
1,497,607 
1,568,743 
7,628,298 

$ 19,283,096 

The Project Agreement liability and the termination payment obligation under the Project 
Agreement is secured by the CCDEU project infrastructure assets and energy services 
agreements with customers. 

2024 2023 

Opening balance $ 14,475,318 $ 11,361,558 
Additions 4,855,397 3,247,234 
Finance expense (note 12) 947,025 774,736 
Net repayment (994,644) (908,210) 

Endin9 balance $ 19,283,096 $14,475,318 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

10. Share capital and contributed surplus: 

At December 31, 2024, the authorized share capital comprised 10,000 (2023 - 10,000) common 
shares without par value. 

As at December 31, 2024, the Company has issued 450 common shares (2023 - 450) at $0.01 

per share totaling $4.50 (2023 - $4.50) and held a contributed surplus of $27,397,110 (2023 -
$27,397, 110). 

11. Personnel expenses: 

The following expenses are included in general and administrative expenses: 

2024 2023 

Wages and salaries $ 1,074,838 $ 1,056,910 

12. Net finance income: 

Finance income: 
Investment interest 
Bank interest 
Other 

Finance cost: 
Finance expense on Project Agreement liability (note 9) 
Less: Finance cost capitalized to plant and 

equipment (note 6) 

Net finance income 
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$ 

$ 

2024 2023 

761,880 $ 706,881 
182,576 52,097 

14,530 26,212 
958,986 785,190 

(947,025) (774,736) 

212,005 44,953 
(735,020) (729,783) 

223,966 $ 55,407 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

13. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Project Agreement commitments: 

Under the Project Agreement, the Company needs to make monthly payments to the Project 
Contractor based on the aggregate of the capital obligations, the operating costs, the asset 
management fee on contributed assets, Project Contractor income tax and commodity costs 
amounts calculated as of the end of each contract year. The capital obligations are 
comprised of capital expenditures and financing costs. The commodity costs include costs of 

fuel, electricity, water, chemicals, etc. which are consumed or produced in the performance of 

the infrastructure and the operating services. All these costs will be repaid over time by 
revenue generated through the provision of energy services. The information presented 
below shows the expected committed cash outflow for the next year under the Project 
Agreement for the capital and operating costs. As construction progresses the asset values 

are recorded as plant and equipment and the corresponding liabilities are recorded as project 
agreement liabilities as disclosed in note 9. 

2025 $ 

Capital 
Commitment 

996,104 

Operating 
Commitment 

$ 6,162,648 

Total 
Commitment 

$ 7,158,752 

As at December 31, 2024, under the Project Agreement, on an early termination for 

convenience by the Company, or termination on an event of default by the Company, the 
Company is obligated to pay $20,442,835 to Project Contractor. 

(b) Distribution pipe leakage: 

An accrual has been maintained in accounts payable and accrued liabilities for the damages 
that resulted from a distribution pipe leakage at one of the Company's service areas (note 7). 
Management believes the Company has adequately provided for the remediation costs and 
intends to seek compensation for such costs from the third parties involved. It is not 
practicable at this time to measure the financial effect of any recovery of expenses from the 

other parties involved or the Company's insurer. 

14. Revenue: 

Metered billings 
Other revenue 
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2024 

$ 8,778,966 
981,486 

$ 9,760,452 

2023 

$ 7,588,977 
981,486 

$ 8,570,463 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

15. Related party transactions: 

Included in these financial statements are transactions with various Crown corporations, 
ministries, agencies, boards and commissions related to the Company by virtue of common 
control by the City, the Province of British Columbia or the Government of Canada. The Company 
has applied the modified disclosure requirements under IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, which 
is only applicable for government-related entities. 

(a) Due from City of Richmond: 

During 2024, the Company received and recognized in other revenue $981,486 (2023 -
$981,486) for its services of advancing district energy opportunities in the City. Staff and 
advanced design activities on low carbon district energy initiatives are covered by this fee. 
With or without the Company, the City would need to fund these costs in order to successfully 
implement district energy initiatives for the City and position itself at the forefront of tackling 
local and global environmental challenges our world faces. 

In addition, included in metered billings revenue for 2024 is $34,274 (2023 - $44,848) for 
district energy utility services rendered by the Company to the City. 

The Company also received and recognized energy model review fees into other income of 
$32,868 (2023 - $20,511) relating to district energy permit fees collected by the City for in­
building district energy related equipment reviews performed by the Company. 

Additionally, a fee of $69,680 (2023 - $70,723), included in general and administrative 
expenses, was paid to the City for the day-to-day support that the Company received from 
City staff during the year. These costs have been charged to the Company on a cost 
recovery basis. 

The total amount due from the City as at December 31, 2024 is $166,301 (2023 - $165,059) 
and is included within accounts receivable. 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related 
parties. The amount is non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

15. Related party transactions (continued): 

(a) Key management personnel: 

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following: 

Short-term employee benefits 
Post-employment benefits 

$ 

$ 

2024 

215,610 
2,781 

218,391 

2023 

$ 101,417 

$ 101,417 

The Board of Directors do not receive any remuneration. Key management personnel include 
the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating 

Officer. In 2024, the Company undertook an operational review in conjunction with its growth 

plan, which resulted in the creation of a full-time Chief Operating Officer role that was 
reclassified from an existing position and the elimination of the Corporate Secretary role. The 
Chief Operating Officer role is the only officer position held by a full-time employee of the 

Company, hence the variance in key management personnel compensation between 2024 
and 2023. The growth plan and staff positions were approved by the Board. Short-term 
employee benefits include salaries and taxable benefits. 

16. Fair values and financial instruments: 

The Company uses the following hierarchy to determine and disclose fair value of financial 

instruments: 

• Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; and 

• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in 

different levels of fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its 
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to 
the entire measurement. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended December 31, 2024 

16. Fair values and financial instruments (continued): 

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value: 

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments and 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short-term 
nature and/or market rates of interest. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Project Agreement liability is accounted for at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. The Project Agreement liability includes a component relating 
to a financing arrangement the Project Contractor holds with the Canada Infrastructure Bank. To 
determine the fair value of the Project Agreement liability for disclosures purposes, this 
component has been discounted using a market-based rate for a similar instrument. The other 
components of the Project Agreement liability approximate their fair values due to the market 
rates of interest. 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities according to their fair value hierarchy. 

December 31 2024 December 31, 2023 
Carrying Carrying 
amount Fair value amount Fair value 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,576,940 $ 7,576,940 $ 2,511,976 $ 2,511,976 

Accounts receivable 4,385,448 4,385,448 4,792,892 4,792,892 

Investments 13,727,812 13,727,812 12,014,953 12,014,953 

Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 1,377,195 1,377,195 1,848,902 1,848,902 

Project Agreement liability 19,283,096 17,558,506 14,475,318 13,699,825 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
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Year ended December 31, 2024 

17. Financial risk management: 

(a) Overview: 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk; 

• Liquidity risk; and 

• Market risk (interest rate risk) 

(b) Risk management framework: 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Company's risk management framework. The management reports regularly to the Board of 
Directors on its activities. 

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks 
faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. The Company, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations. 

(c) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Such risks arise principally from 
certain financial assets held by the Company consisting of its cash and cash equivalents, 
trade accounts receivables and other investments. The Company assesses these financial 
assets on a continuous basis for any amounts that are not collectible or realizable. It is 
management's opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant credit risk from its 
financial instruments. 

(i) Trade and unbilled trade receivables: 

The Company trades mainly with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the 
Company's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to 
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the Company's exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate 
of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables based upon factors 
surrounding the credit risk of specific accounts, historical trends and other information. 

The sale of energy utilities is made to end-user customers in the City's geographic 
region. On the basis of the Company's collective experience, management considers the 
credit risk associated with trade receivables to be low. 
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LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY LTD. 
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Year ended December 31, 2024 

17. Financial risk management (continued): 

(c) Credit risk (continued): 

(i) Trade and unbilled trade receivables (continued): 

(ii) 

The sale of energy utilities is made to end-user customers in the City's geographic 
region. On the basis of the Company's collective experience, management considers the 
credit risk associated with trade receivables to be low. 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade 
receivables by aging: 

December 31, 2024 

Gross book Bad debt Proportion Credit-
Aging balance erovision of erovision imeaired 

Current (not past due) $ 3,000,135 $ $ No 
1 to 30 days past due 
31 to 60 days past due 216,010 No 
61 to 90 days past due 
91 days to 1 year past due 1,035,389 No 

$ 4,251,534 $ $ 

December 31, 2023 

Gross book Bad debt Proportion Credit-
Aging balance erovision of erovision imeaired 

Current (not past due) $ 2,322,251 $ $ No 
1 to 30 days past due 2,145,691 No 
31 to 60 days past due 61,847 No 
61 to 90 days past due 
91 days to 1 year past due 164,306 No 

$ 4,694,095 $ $ 

Due from the City: 

The credit risk on amounts due from the City is considered to be low as the City is a 
Crown entity incorporated under the Local Government Act of British Columbia. 

(iii) Cash and cash equivalents, and investments: 

Credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Company comprises cash and cash 
equivalents, and investments. The Company's exposure to credit risk arises from default 
of the counterparties. The Company manages credit risk through depositing cash and 
only investing in cash term deposits with established financial institutions which are 
considered to be low risk. 
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17. Financial risk management (continued): 

(d) Liquidity risk: 

(e) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. The Company's approach to managing liquidity is continually monitoring actual and 
forecasted cash flows from operations and anticipated investing and financing activities to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the Company's reputation. 

The Company's terms of business require amounts to be paid from customers within 30-days 
of the date of invoice. The accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due from the City are 
in the normal course of operations and paid within the following fiscal year. The commitments 
under the Project Agreement liability are disclosed in note 13. 

The information presented below shows the undiscounted contractual maturities of the 
Project Agreement liability, including estimated interest payments. 

Carrying Contractual Less than 1 - 2 2-5 
amount cash flow 1 year years years 

December 31, 2024 $ 19,283,096 $ 22,219,519 $ 7,353,383 $ 1,549,506 $13,316,630 
December 31, 2023 14,475,318 16,697,726 6,310,433 1,307,153 9,080,140 

Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and other rate 
risks, will affect the Company's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rate. 

The Company has mitigated the interest rate fluctuation risk associated with the Project 
Agreement liability (note 9) by securing some of the debt funding at fixed interest rates until 
2032. 
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Year ended December 31, 2024 

18. Capital management: 

The Company's objective when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base to sustain 
future development of the business, so that it can provide return for the shareholder and benefits 
for other stakeholders. 

The Company considers the items included in shareholder's equity and the Project Agreement 
liability as capital. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the 
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The 
Company is not required to meet any debt covenants. The Company is not subject to externally 
imposed capital requirements. 

There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the year. 

19. Pension plan: 

Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd. and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a 
jointly trusteed pension plan). The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, 
is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of 
benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are 
based on a formula. As at December 31, 2024, the plan has about 256,000 active members and 
approximately 129,000 retired members. Active members include approximately 45,000 
contributors from local governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan 
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and 
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on 
the entry age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer 
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may 
be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the 
amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, 
indicated a $3,761 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 

The Company paid $114,138 (2023 - $105,804) for employer contributions while employees 
contributed $105,556 (2023 - $97,849) to the plan in fiscal 2024. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, 
resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 
individual employers participating in the plan. 
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